VISION REHABILITATION SERVICES IN NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR: IDENTIFYING THE NEEDS, BARRIERS, AND PATHWAYS

MELINDA MARY DUGGAN







VISION REHABILITATION SERVICES IN NEWFOUNDLAND AND

LABRADOR: IDENTIFYING THE NEEDS, BARRIERS, AND

PATHWAYS

by

© Melinda Mary Duggan

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Social Work

School of Social Work

Memorial University of Newfoundland

July 2011

SL John's

Newfoundland

ABSTRACT

In hevefoondland and Lankator there are over 15,000 people that self identify as living with vision loss (Statistics Canada, 2006) and one in eight people can expect to live with significant vision loss after the age of 75 (SUR), 2008. Given that the proportion of the population over the age of 65 is growing faster in Neveformland and Larkator than anywhere else in Canada age-related vision loss will have a significant impact. Despite this predictions and the documented benefits of vision relabilitation services, understitution is a concern. The purpose of this research was to identify the needs, burier, and puthways to accussing and unique vision relabilitation services in the province. A qualitative research approach was used to explore the topic and individual interviews were conducted with sixteen participants. The research informs the expansion and improvement of vision health and relabilitation (committee.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is a pleasure to thank those that have made this thesis possible.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Gail Wideman, whose encouragement, guidance, support, expertise, and most importantly patience have been invaluable to me.

I would also like to thank the members of the CNIB Newfoundland and Labrador Vision Rehabilitation Committee for their guidance and feedback during the research process.

I am also in gratitude to the employees of CNIB for their assistance throughout this venture. A special thank you to Duane Morgan for his ongoing support and dedication to ensuring this research became a reality.

Finally, thank you to my family and friends that have provided their support in countless ways.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTii	
Chapter 1 Introduction 1	
Purpose of the Study1	
The Research Question	
Context of the Problem	
Significance of the Research for Social Work	
Theoretical Framework	
Summary	
Chapter 2 Literature Review	
Introduction	
Vision Rehabilitation Services	
Identified Vision Rehabilitation Service Needs	
Professional awareness and referral	
Psychological and emotional support	
Assistive technology	
Assistive technology funding and training	
Identified Barriers to Vision Rehabilitation Services	
Inaccessibility of assistive technology demonstration centres and	
stores	
Transportation 32	
Unermal access to vision rehabilitation services 33	

iv

	Inadequate promotion of vision rehabilitation centres	. 33
	Patient perception	.34
	Concurrent health problem	.36
	Identified Pathways to Vision Rehabilitation Services	.37
	Initial contact	37
	Other providers of vision rehabilitation services	.37
	Partnerships and collaboration	. 39
	Public education	.39
	Summary	. 40
hapt	zr 3 Methods	42
	Introduction	42
	Study Design	42
	Sampling	43
	Recruitment	45
	Data Collection and Instruments	46
	Data Analysis	47
	Summary	48
hapti	er 4 Results	49
	Introduction	49
	Presentation of the Findings	49
	Needs Related to Vision Rehabilitation Services	50
	Assistive technology training	50

v

Psychological and emotional support51
Increase in public and professional information
Changing needs throughout the life span
Increased contact with CNIB
Improved access to vision rehabilitation services
Access to assistive technology demo centres and stores
Issues specific to Labrador
Barriers to Vision Rehabilitation Services
Cost of assistive technology
Perception of individual vision loss and postponement in accessing
vision rehabilitation services
Transportation
Personal experiences of CNIB
Wait for services
Pathways to Vision Rehabilitation Services
Source of referral to CNIB
Other providers of vision rehabilitation services
Partnerships and collaboration
Initial contact
Access to vision rehabilitation services in communities74
Adjustment to vision loss groups75
Summary

vi

Chapter 5 Discussion
Introduction
Discussion
Changing needs throughout the life span and continued contact
with CNIB
Source of referral to CNIB and increase in public and professional
information
Public and professional education
Perception of individual vision loss and postponement in accessing
vision rehabilitation services
Improved access to vision rehabilitation services, assistive technology,
and transportation
Psychological and emotional support
Assistive technology demo centres and stores and assistive technology
training
Cost of assistive technology
Limitations of the Study
Recommendations for Social Work Practice, Policy and Research
Conclusions 101
References
Appendix A Letter of Ethical Approval
Appendix B Protection of Participants

vii

Appendix C Script for Telephone Contact with Individual Interview

Candidates	7
Appendix D Candidate Information List	9
Appendix E Letter to Candidates	0
Appendix F Project Information Sheet	4
Appendix G Consent Form	7
Appendix H Interview Guide	2
Appendix I Participant Profiles	4
Appendix J Coding Chart	6

viii

Chapter 1

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore the needs, harriers and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labender. This there is an expert of the result of a qualitative study, carried out with a small sample of clients of CNIII in Newfoundland and Labender. This first chapter of the thesis outlines the purpose of the study, presents the research question, and provides information on the context of the problem and its significance to social work practice and policy. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the theoretical Transvork.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative research study is to assist the CNIB Newfordmillad and Labeader Vision Redubilitation Committee in the development of a provincip tabilitation to the study of the study of the study of the study of the vision redubilitation services in Newfordmalland and Labrador. Its formation obtained from this research will be used to ad the committee, comprised of community members and groups with an interest in the area of vision loss, in the development of a vision health strategy for Newfordmilland and Labrador. The goals of the strategy are to facilitate the bequadity of the fore-projet lossy with vision loss in the province of Newfordmilland the Labrador and reduce the incidence of vision loss and blindness through public education and early detection (CNIR, 2010). There is national and international data supporting the importance of vision rehabilitation services and the use of assistive technology for people with vision loss (CNIR, 2010; Cold & Zavela, 2005; Marzydsha, 2009) but there is limited research about the availability and utilization of these services in Newformfland and Labrador.

The Research Question

The effects of vision loss are profoand and courty, with direct and influred implications for individuals and government. Many individual living with vision loss are unemployed or underemployed, uscitably instand, living below the poverty line, and face three times the risk for depression than the general population (Burhaman, Frielden, & Hodge, 2007). For governments, the impact of vision loss means increased costs in social annihitance, used any popers and programs, and easy relinance on home and community care as well as social welfate systems (Access Economics Pty Limited, 2009).

For the purpose of this study the definition of vision loss as provided by the CNIB has been used: "...any chronic visual deficit that impairs everyday functioning and is not correctable by onlinary eveglasses, contact lenses or surgery. Visual impairment can

range from mål or moderate to very severe where no useful vision remaine" (CNIB, 2007, p. 6). Vision loss can be a result of eye problems that are present from birth as a result of genetic disortes that cannot be modeling vertexel, constitution that appear later in life, infections, accidents, environmental factors or as a result of other broader underlying medical problems, including dialetes, specific cancers, and multiple sclerosis (CNIB, 2006; Morg. 2006; Marychka, 2009; Pollard, Simpson, Lamoureux, & Kerffs, 2003).

The impacts of vision loss can be minimized with vision rehabilitation rereview (Lighthouse international, 2016) Marytchia, 2009; Pollard et al., 2003). The term vision rehabilitation refers supports and training aimed an enhancing the independence and mobility of people with vision loss in their homes and communities (Gold & Zorela, 2003). Vision rehabilitation remarks the development of skills and strategies needed to help people with vision charles that services considered in this study include low dimensional, 2010). Vision rehabilitations merices considered in this study include low dimensional 2010). Vision rehabilitation services considered in this study include low diamon services, career and employment services, counselling, assistive technology, and other support services such as access to community resources and information about concessions.² A distribution between the other to the pin port networks.

¹ Concessions are discounts or exemptions granted by some businesses to legally blind individuals. Concessions vary by location but may include discounted administor to movies and events, discounted companion travel fares, and directory assistance exemptions.

a safe, independent, and productive life. It is important for all persons living with vision loss to avail of vision rehabilitation services and become skilled in the use of assistive technology.

The utilization of vision rehabilization services at the onset of vision loss maximizes a person's independence and improves the development of new and modified like skills (Pollutein 24, 2003). According for The Chinago Eighthouse (2011) it is most beneficial for a person to access vision rehabilitation services before their vision reaches 2060³. Nevertheless, research has demonstrated that persons with mild to moderate levels of vision loss are less likely than those with secret vision loss to be aware of vision rehabilitation services (Mwilambwe, Wintich, & Preeman, 2009).³ It then also beem documented that even when the population with mild to moderate vision loss are aware of vision rehabilitation services they may choose not to avail of them because they believe such services are for people that are totally billing (Gold & Zavela, 2005; Multi, Pesalors, Dav. Brows, Chenz, 2010; Pollured (2003).

Research from Canada, Australia, and Britain has found underutilization of vision rehabilitation services to be an issue. It is reported that only a small amount of those that

² A person with 20/60 vision would need to stand twenty feet away from a letter that someone with normal (20/20) vision could see from sixty feet away (Newcomb, 2006).

³ The World Health Organization (2003) defines mild vision loss as being between 20/30 and 20/60, moderate vision loss as ranging from 20/70 to 20/160 and finally severe vision loss is 20/200 or greater which is legally blind.

could benefit from vision rehabilitation are accessing any type of service (Gold & Zavela, 2005; Overbury, Wittich, Fernerei, & Southall, 2008; Pollard et al., 2003) and awarenees of these services is low (Mwilambwe, Wittich, & Freeman, 2009). CNIB is the main provider of vision rehabilitation services in Newfoundland and Labrador. At a time when the demand for CNIB's services should be increasing they are experiencing a similar underralization of vision rehabilitation services (CNIB, 2008).

The objectives of this research are

- to identify the needs associated with accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province;
- to identify the barriers preventing people with vision loss from accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province; and
- to identify potential pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province.

Based on the outlined objectives the research question is:

What are the needs, barriers, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador?

The framework of needs, barriers and pathways are used to explore: individual needs related to vision rehabilitation services, the barriers that prevent people from using

vision rehabilitation services, pathways to learning about, accessing, and using vision rehabilitation services, and about what more can be done to promote these services in the general public.

Context of the Problem

Researchers, eve care professionals, and service providers believe Canada is on the brink of an epidemic of age-related eve disease, due largely to the aging of the population. The number of people with vision loss in Canada has increased 37% in the last 10 years and is projected to double between 2006 and 2031 (Muzychka, 2009). No other province in Canada is likely to experience the impact of population aging as significantly as Newfoundland and Labrador. As a result of outmigration and lower fertility rates the proportion of the population of Newfoundland and Labrador over the are of 65 has expanded more quickly than any other province. This is a trend that is expected to continue for the next several decades (Department of Health and Community Services, 2007). Population aging will also have an impact on the number of persons in the province who will experience vision loss. There are over 15,000 people in Newfoundland and Labrador that self-identify as having a "seeing disability" (Statistics Canada, 2006). In addition to this, one in eight people in the province can expect to live with significant vision loss after the age of 75 (CNIB, 2008). It is anticipated the demographic shift will result in a dramatic increase in vision health diseases in

Newfoundland and Labrador leading to a potential crisis in vision health and rehabilitation resources (Muzychka, 2009). Without the development of vision related policies the province will not be able to adequately respond to the issue.

Government of Newfoundhaut and Labrador strategies and policies are not void of attention to vision health issues. The Provincial Healthy Aging Policy Framework is a document attend att may how the framework, health, and well steing of sections in the province. Despite its faces on sension the framework takes a lifelong approach to healthy aging, including a lifelong approach to points health. Our of the goals of this framework is "increased support for a lifelong approach to point the leadthy vision, hearing and speech" (Despatrator of Health and Community Services, 2007, p. 18).

The government has also began developing a Strategy for the Inclusion of Persons with Disadifies. A series of public comulations were held to inform this new strategy. The comulations were in reopense to the Government of New foundland and Labrador's (2007) document *Due Blogevin for the Future*. The Government of New foundland and Labrador has stated they are committed to enhancing the inclusion of persons with disabilities in all supects of society. The comulations were held to engage people with disabilities in developing recommendations and strategies to address barriers to public services, education, and employment opportunities for people with disabilities (Human Resources, Labour and Employment, 2010).

These government initiatives are necessary but not sufficient in addressing the growing number of people living with vision loss in the province of Newfoundland and Landord. There is a used for a provincial vision health strategy and associated policies to address the unique aspects of vision loss such as the prevention of vision loss, necess to affordable assistive technology, and universal access to vision rehabilitation programs and services.

Significance of the Research for Social Work

A review of the literature revealed there is limited research related to social work practice within the areas of vision loss and vision rehabilitation. However, social workers have a long history of working within the broader field of disabilities advocating with and on behalf of people with disabilities and working to eliminate the societal barriers experiences by the peoplation (Mackelpenne & Shajiyev, 1996).

People living with vision loss may experience significant psychosocial problems due to their disability. Losing all or part of one's sight can have a profound effect on a person's quality of file and has the potential to affect all supects of their life including employment, personal relationships, daily activities, and community participation. The experience of living with vision loss can mean the loss of experimines, access, and independence. Thus, social work involvement in the field of vision relatibilition may

occur at all levels of practice: macro: social work at the societal level; mezzo: social work at the community level; and micro: social work with individuals and families.

At the matro level social workers can be involved in the development and amendment of national and provincial policies and practices that affect people living with vision loss. At the mezzo level social workers work with communities, agencies, organizations, and groups to ensure their programs and services are available and accessible to people with vision loss. Finally, at the micro level social workers provide direct review to individual and milling affected by vision loss.

Along with this conceptualization of the levels of social work practice, a framework of social work roles developed by Steven Hick (1998) is helpful to consider the involvement of tocial workers in a vision rehabilitation model:

Educator: Social workers may be involved in providing people with information related to vision health, living with vision lone, and programs and services. Social workers may also have a nole in teaching individuals, families, communities, and organizations a variety of skills ranging from practical vision relabilitation skills to communication skills.

Advocate: Social workers may advocate on behalf of individuals, families, groups, or communities on issues related to vision loss such as the rights to equal

employment opportunities, funding for assistive devices, or issues related to accessibility.

Analyst/Evaluator: Social workers have strong analytical and evaluation skills that can be used to determine the effectiveness of available programs and services for people with vision loss.

Broker: Social workers may link individuals, groups, organizations, or communities with resources, programs, and services for people living with vision loss.

Facilitator: Social workers may play the role of group facilitator in a number of settings: client groups, community groups, or advocacy groups.

Counsellor: A social worker may help individuals and families develop ways of coping with vision loss. They can help people recognize and manage feelings, identify and support strengths, break down problems into manageable pieces, and assis people in focusing on goals and ways of achieving them.

More specifically, the Newfoundland and Labrador Social Workers Act (2010) defines social work as: The assessment, remediation and prevention of psycho-social problems and the enhancement of the social, psycho-social functioning and well-being of individuals, families, groups and communities by:

- 1. Providing direct counselling and therapy services to a client,
- Developing, promoting and delivering human service programs, including those done in association with other professions,
- 3. Contributing to the development and improvement of social policy, and
- Conducting research in the science, technique and practice of social work (2010 e8-17.2 s2).

As noted above, the goals of the CNIB vision health strategy that surved as the motivation for this research study were to facilitate the best quality of life for people living with vision loss in the province and reduce the incidence of vision loss and blindness through public education and early detection (CNIB, 2010). These goals are in line with the practice of social work in NewFoundland and Labrador and are therefore studies for Ashates of Social Work their scenario they.

Social workers have the capacity to work in a variety of areas and in a number of different roles. Given their broad scope of practice social workers could play an essential role in the design, implementation, and evaluation of programs and services that address the needs, barriers, and pathways identified by participants in this research study.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework guides the research and the data analysis. It is a way of explaining, predicting, and understanding the phenomena being studied (Rubin & Bibbis, 2007). A second lanchain framework was used in this subject because vision exhabilization programs and services are an essential component in the social inclusion of people with vision loss. In developing a provincial vision health strategy it is important to know if the current model of vision rehabilization services in Newformland and Lanchards facilitates the indusion of people with vision loss or if people are experimently barriers to accessing vision rehabilitation services. It is also beneficial to identify individual pathways to vision rehabilitation services to understand how people find and access these vision related that this people are then yet people

People loing with vision loss are at an increased risk of experiencing social exclusion due to the nature of the disability. "Seemingly ordinary, everyday activities such as traceling to familiar and aufinitiar places, carring for a valid or an alling protect, reading a newspore and succeeding at work can all present extraordinary challenges. Family relationships may become strained. And without assistance in adjusting to vision loss, many people (particularly sensor) may five in isolation and faer" (CNBR, 2011a, How does vision loss factor people" [1].

Many people with vision loss live without the protective factors that help decrease the risk of social exclusion. Protective factors are traits, situations, or circumstances that

contribute to a person's social indusion and include having adequate income and husning, satisfying personal relationships, a social support network, access to health services, access to transportation, skills and resources to find and obtain needed services, and higher levels of husdanis (off-earl Provided Martines Responsible for Seniors, 2007). Protective factors also include being in good health, feeling safe in one's neighbourhood, freeling connected and valued by others, and experiencing meaningful roles in society (p. 11). Union relatedilation training enhances the independence of people with vision loss and actions then in developing and maintaining these protective factors in their leves.

The concept of social exclusion emerged in the 1970s and 80s as a response to the growing used all wides in flampean society (Trazee, 2003; Sakoije, 2001). These nocial divides evolved from new labour market conditions and the inadepancy of existing social used frampeanism to meet the changing moved on more dwaver populations (Frazee, 2003). More recently, Stanley (2007) docrethes social exclusion as the existence of barriers which make it difficult or impossible for people to participate fully in society or obtain an acceptable standard of frising. The condition of vision loss results in barriers such as the need for alternative femats of text, safe mobility training, and access to assistive technology for education, employment and home.

Social exclusion has been associated with an increased chance of premature death, depression, increased disability from chronic diseases, mental health problems, increased

use of health and support services, caregiver burden, poor general health, and a reduced quality of life (Federal/Provincial/I criticital Ministers Responsible for Seniors, 2007). Social cechnican has been identified by the World Health Organization as a social determinant of health (Werld Health Organization, 2010). According to the World Health Organization (2010) accid architesion consists of:

dynamic, multi-dimensional processes driven by unequal prover relationships interacting across four main dimensions - consonic, political, social and culturalat al different feeds including individual, household, group, community, country and global levels. It results in a continuum of inclusion/exclusion characterized by unequal access to resources, capabilities and rights which leads to leads (1).

A social inclusion framework is a response to social exclusion. This framework highlights the need for all members of society to be able to participate as valued, respected, and contributing members of society (Frazee, 2003). It aims to open systems up to difference (The Reeber Institute, 2003) and calls for the validation and recognition of diversiva and fevence's (inved excretences (Frazee, 2003).

Social inclusion is about eliminating the physical, aocial, economic, and political barriers separating people (Trazee, 2003; Huchinon & Lee, 2004). It involves engaging in inclusive practices and the continuous evaluations of institutions, laws, policies, and practices to ensure the social inclusion of all populations in promoted (Salotjee, 2001).

Respect for differences needs to occur and barriers removed to ensure that everyone is able to effectively and equitably participate in all areas of society (Saloojec, 2001; The Rocher Institute, 2003).

There are many dimensions of social inclusion (Shookner, 2002). Several are relevant to those living with vision loss. Economic inclusion requires that people have adaptate incomes to meet their basia needs and to participate in society. It involves the climination of poverty and the reduction of dispatities amongst various groups (p.S.). This is an important component of inclusions for people with vision loss because only 25% of working age people with vision loss are employed (CNIB, 2011a). This is depite the fact that the majority of people with vision loss well by clusted and qualified. This high rate of uncerployment is contributed to conducted employer attitudes about the abilities of people with vision loss. Many people with vision loss live im proverva as a readio discrimination (CNID, 2011a).

Functional inclusion enables people to be actively involved in society, values their social roles, and recognizes their competence while providing opportunities for personal development (Shookner, 2002). The functional abilities of people with vision loss are often overlooked in favour of outdated streeotypes that minimize the abilities and inderendence of converting with vision loss.

Participatory inclusion involves empowerment and the freedom of choice. It provides people with the opportunity to contribute to their community and access

programs along with being involved in decision making (Shoakar, 2002). People with vision loss often find themselves powerless and outside of the decision making process due to secienta beliefs about the abilities of people with vision loss such as ideas they cannot travel independently, cannot participate in sports, and are not as educated as the general population.

Physical inclusion includes access to transportunitor, public places, and community resources. It provides opportunities for interactions between people and society in healthy and supportive environments (Stockker, 2002). Transportation is a recognized barrier for people with vision loss, especially in rural areas. A lack of public transportation limits access to public places and community resources because people with vision loss do not have the queption to drive and do not always have friends or family available to provide supportancy transport.

Political inclusion involves the development of policies and legislation that socially protect vulnerable groups and removes systemic barriers (Shookner, 2002). For people with vision loss political inclusion may include funding programs for axistive devices and policies promoting the employment of popper but disabilities.

Relational inclusion includes belonging, respect, recognition, and access to resources (Shookner, 2002). People with vision loss often feel as though they are on the outskirts of society. There is little respect for and recognition of their abilities. They

have limited access to resources due to high rates of unemployment and an often inaccessible society.

Finally, structural inclusion focuses on community capacity building and options for change. It includes inter-departmental and inter-governmental links, accountability, and open channels of communication (Shookner, 2002).

Vision loss has profound impacts for individuals and society therefore individuals, organizations, and government must come together to bring about societal change to promote the inclusion of people with vision loss. They must work together to change the structures that exclude people with vision loss and make society convival and accessible for all.

The Federal Provincial Territorial Ministers Responsible for Seniors (2007) developed a guide to assist organizations and governments in the screening of existing and plannel programs and precisives to determine their impact on seasi solutation. This guide was prepared in response to the recognition that social isolation is a significant risk for older adults with actions consequences on their quality of life. People with vision loss have a similar risk of social isolation, therefore the guide can be applied to the experience of inclusion for persons with vision loss.

Using the guide as a starting point, it can be seen that there are ways for organizations that offer vision rehabilitation programs and services, to promote the inclusion of people with vision loss in their programs and policies

- involve people with vision loss in planning, implementing, and evaluating the programs and policies that affect them;
- conducting a local scan of resources available to people with vision loss; and
- · identifying local resources that can be utilized in program delivery.

According to the guide organizations can also identify and address real and potential barriers to participation by

- using flexible approaches that address the psychological, social, and physical aspects of living with vision loss;
- making efforts to approach those with vision loss that are isolated or at risk of becoming isolated;
- increasing accessibility to services by providing information and education to people with vision loss using a variety of methods that are sensitive to potential barriers (i.e. literacy, communication, etc.);
- · addressing the transportation needs of people with vision loss; and
- · ensuring their staff and volunteers are supported and provided with

ongoing training opportunities (Federal/Provincial/Territorial Ministers Responsible for Seniors, 2007).

Summary

The effects of vision hose have direct and indirect implications for individuals and government and are a growing concern in New foundland and Labrador due to population aging. Individuals long with vision hose face many buriers and are at a greater risk of becoming socially isolated. The predicted growth in service needs will have a profound impact on government policies and programs and for social work practice in the province. Vision rehabilitation services help enable people with vision loss live independent and fulfilling lives and to participate fulfy in society. However, not all people are accessing and using these specialized services. This research aims to explore the needs, barriers, and pathways associated with accessing and talizing vision rehabilitation services in Newfordmental and Labrador.

It is anticipated this research will facilitate and mform the expansion and improvement of programs and services aimed at vision health and redubilitation and the work of the CNIB Newfoundiand and Labrador Vision Redubilitation Committee. It will also add to existing knowledge about the experisence of vision redubilitation in this

province and about social work practice in that context. Most importantly it will give voice to those living with vision loss in Newfoundland and Labrador.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Introduction

The purpose of the literature review is to determine what is known about a topic. A primary goal of this research was to understand access and utilization of vision relabilistion services in Newfoodilland and Ladwales. Insues that merged in the literature review were considered in terms of their relationship to the service user and their relevance as needs, barriers, or pathways. In addition to a review of the literature, the *HCS Distability Supports Project* (Gons Glivoy, 2007) and the *Environmental Score* of *Fision Health and Testion Laus in the Provinces and Territories of Lawada* (Maryekha, 2009) provided information about programs and services specific to Newfoundland and Labrador. This chapter will provide an overview of vision rehabilitation needs and services and the burries and pathways to their access and utilization as identified in a review of relevant literature.

Vision Rehabilitation Services

In order to understand the needs, barriers, and pathways related to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services it is important to gain an understanding of vision rehabilitation services which are a key support for people living with vision loss. While

vision relabilitation training cannot restore lost sight it can help a person maximize existing vision and to develop techniques to maintain an independent lifetyle. Vision rehabilitation services can enable a person to adjust emotionally to living with vision loss, travel safely, take care of their homes, meet their career goals, and enjoy leisure activities (Liphthous International, 2010).

CNIB is the main provider of vision rehabilitation services in New foundituda and Labrador with other professionals providing some basic vision rehabilitation program and services. For example, lineared Technes work with CNB to provide vision rehabilitation services to children and school aged youth in the areas of independent living skills and assistive technology. In addition to literant Teachers, a limited number of optioneristis provide low vision assessments to their patients. This research focused on the exercisive core (densits of CNB).

Vision rehabilitation services provided by CNIB include

- low vision assessments: functional assessments of visual abilities, information and training in the use of low vision devices, and instruction on how to maximize residual vision;
- orientation and mobility training: instruction on how to move safely around the home, or when travelling outside;
- assistive technology services: information about the availability, selection, use, and purchase of devices best suited to individual needs. This is

accomplished through demonstration, assessment, training, technical support, and instruction on how to use current computer programs to access information and communicate independently:

- independent living skills training: life-skills training to help manage the
 essentials of daily living, with an emphasis on maintaining independenceincluding safe and effective methods of cooking and doing household
 tasks such as laundry, banking, writing, and personal care;
- career and employment services: employment assessments, helping individuals explore career interests, developing employment plans, marketing to potential employers, and investigation of job opportunities and accommodations;
- chil and family services: supportive connelling, service coordination, information, advocary, and programming for children and their families. Early intervention poecialists with which didren from birth to school age and their families to assess developmental needs associated with vision loss, taking into consideration additional disabilities, and environmental needs to help schools accommodate attudent with vision loss;
- adjustment to vision loss counselling: support to people as they adjust to vision loss. This can be accomplished through individual, family, or group counselling. Client group programs provide a venue to discuss

work, home life, activities of daily living, or leisure and community participation; and

 support services: information and advocacy support for resources available from CNIB as well as resources available from community partners focusing on social issues such as concessions, housing, finances, and leisure pursuits.

Headult care providers, syc care professionals, and individuals with vision loss rely on organizations like CNB to deliver vision rehabilitation services because often no other alternative exists (Mosrycha, 2009). However, a lack of multiable finning and increased difficulties with fundaming is making it difficult for CNB to provide a consistent service even within small regions (CNB), 2003). According to CNB, the cost of providing vision rehabilitation services for people with vision loss in Canada was 222, anillion in 2007. In addition to this, the cost of expectil larger services for people with vision loss in Canada was 52.4 million. Only 23% of these finds are provided by government. The halance is provided by support from the public (Access Economics, 2009).

Identified Vision Rehabilitation Service Needs

For the purpose of this research, the term need refers to the supports and services needed to enable a person to access and use vision rehabilitation services. Unless

indicated, the needs identified below are not specific to one vision rehabilitation service but to vision rehabilitation services in general.

Professional avarences and referral. There is a need for increased referral to vision redubilitation services amongst all professionals. In a study by Pollard et al. (2003) only 46% of sufficients, addus with a visual impriment who were current patients at the Royal Victorian Eye and Ear Hospital, had been referred to vision rehabilitation services by an eye care practitioner. Other research indicates that the majority of those living with vision loss that are avare of vision rehabilitation services have been out all about the services by family members and Friends not their eye care specialist (Overbury et al., 2005). These findings are particularly problematic as it has been demonstrated that people are more likely to access the services of their eye care specialist (overbury et al., 2005).

There is a common misconception among professionals and the general public that vision rehabilitation services are intended for people with no vision and not for or needed by those with various levels of vision loss (Gold & Zurela, 2005). Eye cure specialists are likely to endy inform those with more severe vision loss about vision rehabilitation services (Overbury et al., 2008; Pollard et al., 2003). In many cases cyc care specialists substantially underestimate the effect of vision loss on a person's spatial of life and people are left to find and access vision rehabilitation services on their own (Overbury et al., 2005).

There is also a need for early referral as it is important for people with vision loss to avail of vision rehabilitation training at the onset of their vision loss. It is recognized that the earlier a person with vision loss begins vision rehabilitation training the higher their fieldbased of a successful outcome (Pollard et al., 2003). With early utilization as person becomes accustomed to using new tools, techniques, and adaptive devices. This may make it easier for them to accept the need for more advanced training and assistive devices if their vision loss advances (Muzychka, 2009). Despite the benefits of early access to vision rehabilitation training people with vision loss have reported that referrals to vision rehabilitation services care at the very end of the treatment process (Polland et al., 2003). Eye care specialisms mat be aware of the full spectrum of services available, effectively interact with organizations that provide the services, and be knowledgeable in making referals to these organizations (Muzychka, 2007). Overbary et al., 2006).

The National Dye Institute (2010) in the United Status has recognized the need for increased referrals and its developing a program with the goal of obaciting cyc care equicilants abard vision developing reviews. The program will be designed to increase patient referrals, develop, test, and evaluate measurable strategies, identify opportunities and barriers, and provide information to health care professionals and their patients about vision relabilisting or wises. This program will still and beefvelopent stage.

Pychological and emotional support. The definiting psychological and emotional affects of vision loss are an important issue that is often overlooked in the current models of vision charakteristic services. Research downs approximately 31% of popele with vision loss have depressive symptoms (Temisijian et al., 2008). Many people may feel a loss of independence and autonomy and attempt to conceal their vision loss to protect their pride (Pollard at al., 2003). This can lead us an increase in social isolation and make i difficult for people to initiate or be receptive of vision rehabilitation services. This is why it is important for individual and group cosmelling programs to be included as part of all vision rehabilitation models. Accessing cosmelling at the orset of vision loss will increase the likelihood of a person accepting and availing of other essential vision rehabilitation services. It is known that there is an emotional transitional period in which it takes time for people to feed comfortable accessing and using vision rehabilitation services. Or approximation of the services and the services are also been explored at the services and any vision rehabilitation services. It is known that there is an emotional transitional period in which it takes time for people to feed comfortable accessing and using vision

Assistive technology. People with vision loss are in need of access to assistive technology devices. Assistive technology refers to devices that enable people living with vision loss to improve their quality of life and perform tasks they would ofdenvise have difficulty accomplishing (CMIR) 2011b. It enables people to participate more fully at lower, work, and in their communities. Devices can range from low tech items such as

talking clocks, hand magnifiers, and large button phones to high tech items such as CCTVs⁴, adaptive computer software, and high powered electronic magnifiers.

Assistive technology funding and training. People with vision loss are in need of funding for assistive technology to improve access to devices and in turn their quality of life. In a study conducted by (odd, Zuvela, & Hodge (2006) over 50% of repondents indentified high precises as the reason they could not purchase required assistive devices. Muzychka (2009) also reports that many people with vision loss are unable to purchase assistive technology or have to settle for cheaper alternitives that do not meet their needs.

Providers of vision reliabilitation services indicate the rising cost of assistive technology in provinces without subsidy is acrisona bundler and significantly affects the ability of people with low or fixed incomes to benefit from vision reliabilitation services (fold et al., 2006). According to Muryski (2009) Canadians who are in need of assistive technology are paying the majority of costs out of their own peckets with government and the health care systems providing minimal subsidies. While provincial governments offer general supports to those with disabilities few provinces put forward programs specifically for people with vision loss. A survey of provincial and territorial programs specification or immid details in most invitacioner scenario the invitacioner according the individual set of the structure of the provincial and territorial programs specification or immid details in most invitacioner scenario the individual set.

^a CCTVs are video magnifiers consisting of a video camera connected to a monitor. Materials can be placed under the camera and an enlarged image of the material is displayed on the monitor.

funding available for assistive technology, a finding which was confirmed by the Assistive Technology Links program of Industry Canada (Industry Canada, 2010).

An exception is Ottatrio, which offers an Austirite Devices Program (ADP) that covers optical aids such an magnifers, telescopes, specialized glasses, reading and writing systems, including and/so book machines and Beaillers. This program is available to any Ottatior resident who has available Ottataio Health and sinsed in their name and has had a physical disability for a minimum of six months. The program stipulates that the equipment must be needed on a daily basis both inside and ontaide of the home and arannot be receiled on a daily basis both inside and ontaide of the home and arannot be required exclusively for spotes, work, or school (Government of Ottario, 2010). The AOP does not pay for equipment available from other funding sources. There are specific eligibility criteria which apply to each dovice category but these criteria are not public knowledge (Goss Gilroy, 2007). The ADP is a cost share program with the annuat of aduisity provided dependent on factors such as the device required, applicant age, and the availability of other sources of funding (Government of Ottario, 2010).

Saskatchevan is another exception offering a service called the Akh to the Blind Program. This is operated by CNB Saskatchevan under a government contract and is available to consumers who next certain medical eriteria. The Saskatchevan program loans Braillers, audio boek machines, and magnifiers. The program also helps subsidier the cost of watches, takling calculators, and how-ision prevext (Marcylas, 2009).

In beerfoundhad and Labrador, there is no universal usinkify for thus looking to acquire funding for assistive technology. Some assistive technology is provided by government and community funding to eligible students, the newly employed, and those looking to retain employment. As in Ontaria, edge/billy requirements vary widely and are not public knowledge (Goss Gilroy, 2007). Although this assistance is beneficial, many people in Newfoundhard and Labrador may not meet the eligibility traiteria and have no guantate their needs will be net through the publicity educations and revorums that have attended to Oll the period (Goss Gillow 2007).

Assistive technology subsidies are imperative to ensure people with vision loss have access to the devices they require (CNIR, 2000). There is a need to conordinate the numerous agencies in Newfoundland and Labrador that are currently providing finding for assistive technology in order to create a timely, effective, and streamlined process for accurring devices (Gos Gilory, 2007).

Once a person has access to assistive technology there is a need for intersated training opportunities. It takes time for a person with vision loss to feel propared and conformable using assistive technology (stochall et al., 2003). A value by Godd, Zaveda, & Hodge (2006) revealed that only a small number of participants were trained in the use of assistive devices. Those who did receive training reported receiving only one or two brief sessions per assistive device. Furthermore, in most cases the limited numbers of training sessions were used to tesh individual how to use more than one device. In

addition to improving the confidence of users, research has demonstrated that as little as five training sessions can increase compliance with assistive technology use (Gold & Zuvela, 2005).

Identified Barriers to Vision Rehabilitation Services

For the purpose of this research, the term burrier refers to the factors that prevent a person from accessing or using vision rehabilitation services. Barriers can be external to the individual or they can be personal challenges that prevent a person from accessing and using vision rehabilitation services.

Inaccessibility of assistive technology demonstration centres and stores. The lack of access to assistive technology demonstration centres and stores selling assistive technology is a barrier that can prevent people from using necessary devices. Assistive technology is other limited to training facilities, which are is short supply, where the availability of devices may be indequeted (Marcelska, 2007).

In Newfoundlind and Lahradar, for example, there is an assistive technology centre bearden in the St. John's CNIB centre abovecasing many of the latest high tech assistive devices. There is also a store on site where many low tech items can be sampled and purchased. However, the CNIB centres in Corner Brook and Grann Falls-Window have a very limited selection of their and low tech assistive devices available for demonstration and no devices are available for sale. When assistive technology is not available in the local office clients have the options of waiting for a piece of assistive technology to be courself form the S. show 50 fiftic in order to try it or ordering a device not knowing if it will be appropriate to meet their needs. Gold et al. (2006) found that in many instances a person will choose to order a loss offictive device simply because it is available for demonstration or choose not order any assistive theologe.

Transportation. The challenge of Canada's climiter and geography means limited access to services where people live. People residentia in trutal areas may need to trute of outside their community to receive the nervices. Here require, Even in turban areas, people may believe that vision rehabilitation centres are toof far away from where they live and that they are difficult to get to (Overbary et al., 2008; Pollard et al., 2009). Transportations is frequently noted as a barrier to vision rehabilitation services, especially in mult areas where public transportation can be limited or non-existent (CMIR 2008; Gold, Zavela, & Sawa, 2008; Marzychka, 2009; Overbary et al., 2008; Pollard et al., 2003). Transportation can also be an issue for vision rehabilitation specialists because inten apent travelling to rural areas to provide vision rehabilitation services can be substantial (Gold et al., 2008).

Even when public transportation is available people may be anxious about using it as a result of the enset of low vision. Gold et al. (2008) report that based on the 2001 Participation and Activity Limitation Survey (PALS) people with vision loss are more

likely than those with other disabilities to experience difficulty using public transportation. Over 80% of PALS respondents with vision loss reported having difficulty getting on and off public transportation; 40% had difficulty getting to bus stops (Gold et al., 2008).

Unequal access to vision rehabilitation services. According to Muti et al. (2010) the unequal distribution of services in rural and urban areas may be a barrier to vision rehabilitation services for some pople. Newfoundhand and Labrador is a large province with many pople living unside the capital region of SL John's. The majority of CNIB services are boused in the SL John's Cuetter with vision rehabilitation specialists regularly travelling to other areas of the province to provide avrices. Mucychak (2009) recognized that CNIB services may not be universally available and equally accessible to all people with vision loss due to staffing and geographical endlences.

Indequate promotion of vision rehabilitation centres. The lack of public knowledge of vision rehabilitation programs and services and those they may benefit is a baseries to people with all benefs of vision base accessing these services. According to Muzychka (2007) the public has little knowledge of available vision rehabilitation services (Mazychka, 2007). People with vision loss have expressed econcern that publicity of vision rehabilitation centres in directed at people that are blind and not those with multi knowledge teches of vision loss. Much of the aberetimit geviets people with

white canes and guide dogs and people with low vision find these images difficult to relate to (Pollard et al., 2003). In order to help eliminate this barrier advertising needs to be more inclusive of all levels of vision loss.

Concerns have been raised by people with vision loss that organizations providing vision relabilitation services self-promote to raise finals rather than raise awareness of the programma and excises they provide (Public et al., 2003). This may be due to the fact that many of these organizations are non-profit and rely on private donors to avaist in funding the provision of vision relabilitation services. It is anticipated that if these organizations received more government fanding they could focus on public education efforts to raise awareness of the vision relabilitation programm and private three horizes the provision of the procession of the vision relabilitation programm and private three more the provision private set of the vision relabilitation programm and private three horizes the provision private set of the vision relabilitation programm and private three horizes the provision private set of the vision relabilitation programm and private three horizes the provision private set of the vision relabilitation programm and private three private private sets and private sets the vision relabilitation programm and private the provision private sets the private private sets the vision relabilitation programm and private three provision private sets the private priv

Patient perception. People's perceptions of the nature of their vision hous and/or their need for vision rehabilitation services can be a barrier to accessing and using these services. They may choose not to avail of vision rehabilitation releve due to miconceptions about the services, malequate understanding of their eye condition, lack of toxoeledge of the available services, waiting for eye treatments to be finished, transportedings of size, and not combidering themselves to have low vision (Matti et al., 2010, Overhary et al. 2008).

Research has reported conflicting information about the uptake levels for vision rehabilitation services. Overbury et al. (2008) reported that only 58.25% of their participants availed of vision rehabilitation services, while Matti et al. (2010) reported a

97% sptake of vision rehabilitation services among participants. The research by Matti and his colleagues appears to be the exception as recearch from Canada, Australia, and Bratian has reported that low numbers of people are accessing any type of vision tabilitation in services (Gold AE Zavela, 2005; Overbury, et al., 2001; Mattie et al., attribute the high rate of sptake in their study to the service delivery model used. All participants were constanted by the vision rehabilitation provider within on weeks of the referral being received with interpreters and volunteer drivers also being made available (ro. 155).

Mutic et al. (2010) found the higgest burrier to uprate of vision rehabilitation services was patient perception. Or those participating in the study, initially 27% idd not believe they needed vision rehabilitation services and a further 10% did not believe that vision rehabilitation services would benefit them. This was supported in a study by Pollard et al. (2001) where almost 50% of participants did not consider themselves to have low vision and of the participants that did, many flakely believed that vision rehabilitation services could not assist them because their eye care practitioner told them that "moting more can be dow" (Pduttation et al., 2003).

As previously discussed, people effent have the microsception that low-vision services are for people with severe vision loss and are unaware that there is a range of vision redubilization services that may benefit people with varying levels of vision (Gold & Zarela, 2005; Marie et al., 2010; Patient et al., 2003). Related to the barrier created by

a misperception of the value of vision rehabilitation services, is a lack of understanding about the long term consequences of eye conditions that causes people to delay accessing vision rehabilitation services (Southall et al., 2008).

People may also choose net to use vision rehabilitation services because they are scared and confisced at the time of their diagnosis and may go through a period of dexial. It may be difficult for the persons to consider availing of vision rehabilitation services if they are concerned about being labelled as "blind" (Southall et al., 2008). This burrier may be particularly prominent among older adults who assume that vision loss is a natural part of aging and only seek services when their vision loss significantly interferes with their ability to complete everyday activities or when they realize their vision loss is increasing (Gold et al. 2006).

Concerrent health problems. Mail et al. (2010) cite the presence of concurrent major health problems as a further hurrier to vision relabilitation services. People with concernent health problems may choose not to avail of vision relabilitation services because they are hesitant about committing to the low vision assessment due to the fear of multiple apopointments and additional testing (p. 10). Concurrent health problems mus be a narricular burvie for older abils.

Identified Pathways to Vision Rehabilitation Services

For the purpose of this research, the term pathway refers to factors that motivate or enable a person with vision loss to access and use vision rehabilitation services.

Initial contact. People report initially contacting and accessing vision rehabilitation centres to learn new skills and ways of managing tasks of everyday life (Scheiman, Scheiman, & Whittace, 2007). This may include learning new ways to complete chores, solect clothes, cook, and walk in the community. People may also want to learn ways to maximize their vision and improve their reading ability with devices or training (n. 62).

After initial contact vision relubilitation training often includes accessing and using assistive technology. CNIB provides information about the availability, selection, use, and purchase of assistive technology. They are able to assist people in finding the best devices to meet their individual needs, through demonstration, assessment, training, and technical assesses (CMBR 2010).

Other providers of vision rehabilitation services. Innerant Tackbers are employed in scheols throughout Newfoundlund and Lahndor and provide important pathways for children and ackool aged youth with vision loss and their parents. Access to timenant Tackbers is regulated by the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. In order to receive support services from an Internal Tackber⁺ a child must have a visual

acity of 20% or less in the better yet with corrective lenses, or a child must have a visual field restriction of 20% or less." (Government of Newfoonfland and Labrador, Dig. p. 2.2. In addition to the support personal do families, linterant Techers also provide support to classroom trachers that work with children with vision loss. They encourage a realistic understanding of the child's needs and addities with the aim of helping the child reach their highest potential (Government of Newfoonfland and Labrador, 2011).

In paramethip with CSIR, linearent Teachers provide training to induct in the areas of Brailite, orientation and mobility, language, social skills, independent living skills, use of lew vision adds, litering skills, keybourding akliks, survivense training, organizational aklik, visual efficiency and post secondary counselling (Government of Newfoundhand and Labrador, 2001). They also assist instants in accessing assistive devices, teach them how to use and maintain the devices, and monitor the devices to ensure that they are working precedy (Cz. 520).

The Halley School for the Blind is helping to make vision rehabilitation services more accessible to people by offering distance education programs focusing on assistive technology, Braille, independent living skills, and other important areas. The school was founded in 1920 and today it is the largest educator in the world of people with vision loss and the largest educator of Braille. Each year they have more than 10,000 students located in 100 countries (The Halley School for the Blind, 2011).

The mission of The Halley School for the Hilmd is to "promote independent living through lifebong, distance electation programs for individuals who are third or visually impaired, their families and blindens service providers "The Halley School for the Hilmd, 2011, 15, 10. The school provides distance electation programs free of danges individuals living with vision loss and their families. They also offer affeedable tuition courses to professionals working utilities the field of vision hass. The school relies on assistance from individuals, foundations, and corporations for full programs (The Halley School for the Hind, 2011).

Partnerships and cellbarentime, Partnerships hereveen vision health professionals and related organizations are cited in the literature as having the potential to improve pathways to vision rehabilitation services for popel feriodir with vision least they unite around common goals (CNII), 2005). This could include improved referral processes by eye care specialists, increased awareness of available services offered by CNIII and other vision rehabilitation professionals, and imitial referable being made at centric status of vision (SCMA & Zived, SCM, Marcellas, 2005).

Public education. A lack of public knowledge of vision relubilitation programs and services and their benefits was identified as a barrier. Thus it is clear that investment in charaction, awareness, and bealth promotion campaigns are potential publications of the access and utilization of vision rehubilitation services (Mazyehka, 2009). An increase in public education forcinging on the terminology used when discussive vision loss and bar

role and finition of vision rehabilitation services in the lives of people with vision loss has the potential to increase public awareness and improve public attitudes about vision loss (Visitot et al. 2003). An increase in public awareness could result in an increase uptake of vision rehabilitation services as well as an increase in the social inclusion of those living with vision loss due to an increased understanding of the abilities of people with vision loss.

Summary

Research from within Canada and other countries identifies a number of needs, burriers, and pathways related to the accessibility and utilization of vision relabilitation areviscing for people with vision loss that can be generalized to people in NewformHand and Labrador. These are the identified needs of professional awareness and referral, psychological and emotional appror, assistive technology, and assistive technology finding and training. The barriers identified were inaccessibility of assistive technology done conterns and association of vision rehabilitation entres, transportation, unequal access to vision rehabilitation entres, patient perception, and concurrent and associations environ, predictional coldisations and public elucations.

The goal of this research was to explore the experiences of accessing and using vision rehabilitation services of persons living with vision loss in Newfoundland and Labrador. The next charter discusses the process used to carry out the research.

Chapter 3

Methods

Introduction

This chapter describes the methods used to explore the experience of stoteen individuals in accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in Newfoundland and Labrader. The chapter begins with a description of the study design and the sampling methods used to select participants. The chapter then gases on to discuss methods of data collection, the instruments used, and data analysis.

Study Design

The purpose of this research was to explore and describe the needs, barriers, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador.

Exploration of a topic is best accomplished using a qualitative research approach as a means of opening dialogue in which to examine issues because the primary aim of qualitative research is not to discover or verify commonalities across experiences but rather to explore each person's uniquely lived experience (Plantanda & Garman, 1999). Furthermore, a qualitative approach is better suited than quantitative methods to examine issues that are poorly understood and research questions that consider the quality of

experiences rather than magnitude (Creswell 2007). This type of approach generates rich data allowing for depth of understanding (Hutchinnon & Lee, 2004). The use of a semi-structured qualitative interview in this study captured the lived experiences of people with union loss. This will provide the Vision Rehabilitation Committee with an in-depth understanding of participants' experiences and perspectives of vision rehabilitation services in the province.

The research question asked: what are the needs, burriers, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labrodor? Project participants were asked to describe their experiences of access to and utilization of vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology in Newfoundland and Labrodor?

Sampling

Sampling strategies in qualitative research differ from quantitative research as they are designed with the goal of studying a particular phenomenon in detail nather than for the purpose of statistical inference (Laboesky & Rabenstein, 1995). It is generally accepted that a minimum sample size of twelve interviews is sufficient to reach data stantation in qualitative research (Giosci, Buner, and Johnsen, 2006). For this research

sixteen participants were selected for individual interviews using a combination of availability and purposive sampling.

Availability sampling is a sampling method that selects elements because they are readily available and convenient. This sampling method is commonly used in social work research because it is usually less expensive and more feasible than other methods of sampling (Rubin & Habsie, 2007).

Purposive sampling is common in qualitative research and involves selecting participants based on variables that are analytically and theoretically linked to the research question (Rubin & Rubbie, 2007). Using the CRIII client list as the sampling frame, a purposive strategy was undertaken to consider specific categories of experience of vision redubilitation services. Purposive sampling was used to select participants based on the experiences of the following room:

Group 1: Parents or guardians of children with vision loss (Children ages 18 and under)

Group 2: Working age adults with vision loss (aged 19-65)

Group 3: Older adults with vision loss (aged 66+)

These experiential categories represent the main vision rehabilitation consumer groups in Newfoundland and Labrador.

Recruitment

The recruitment protocol was reviewed and approved by Memorial University's Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) (see Appendix A for Letter of Ethical Approval and Appendix B for information about the Protection of Participants).

Participants were recruited using the CNB client lin. A CNB representative contacted potential interview participants from each category to inform them of the research and ask (they would agree to receive additional information about the researchincluding a follow op phone call from the researcher. A recruitment script was used to ensure that people understood that their participation was completely voluntary and would have no impact on their eligibility for CNB programs and services (see Appendix C for Seript for Telephone Contact with Individual Interview Candidates). A list of individuals that agreed to receive more information about the project was completed using a standardized from (see Appendix C) for Candidate Information List) and turned over to the researcher. The key informant from CNB did not now which potential participants agreed to heirstreiswed. A Participant Profiles Intorviews more detail about the participants and constants. L

Individuals who agreed to receive more information were sent a letter and project information sheet which introduced the researcher, identified the purpose of the research, and informed them that the researcher would follow up with a phone call to answer

questions and provide more information as necessary (see Appendix E for Letter to Candidates and Appendix F for pixel formation Sheet). This package also constained a consent form outlining the research conditions (see Appendix G for Consent Form). All materials sent to participants were developed following the guidelines for plain language and were available in alternative formats.

Data Collection and Instruments

Data was collected using telephone interviews. The interview golds was created in consultation with the CNIB Newfoundland and Labradov Vision Health and Rehabilization Commente using the framework of needs, buries, and pathways described in Chapter 1. The committee was provided with a draft copy of a preliminary interview guide and added to provide feedback. Feadback was collected and utilized in the development of the final of the interview guide (See Appendix H for the linerview Guide).

Individual interviews were recorded and conducted via tolephone. The consent form was read at the beginning of the interview and participants were asked to provide verbal consent to proceed before the interview commenced. The verbal permission of each participant was recorded and the researcher signed the consent form indicating that verbal permission had been granted. The interview guide consisted of open ended questions designed to encourage a full, meaningful answer using the participant's own

knowledge and feelings related to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services. The use of a semi-structured interview guide allowed for individualized discussion and questioning based on participants' answers to the preliminary questions.

Data Analysis

In qualitative research analysis a coding procedure is used to discern and organize patterns within data. The process of coding involves moving from raw data to a theoretical marrative in small steps, each new step building upon the previous one (Acarback & Silverine), 2003).

As part of the initial coding process the text from the individual interviews was received and erganized in the context of the research concerns of needs, burriers, and publicly. For each diverse any reference made to needs, hurriers, and publicly was identified as relevant text and copied into an electronic chart, Other information provided by participants that did not fi these categories but seemed to be relevant to the research was placed in the "uther" eaterpry (see Appendix J for the Coding Chart). This made the text catier to work with. The relevant text was then examined for repeating ideas arrows individual interviews. Repeating ideas are the same or similar works and phrases used by participants to express the same idea (Ausenbach & Shevenkin, 2003). A new determine decument was created to complet the repeating likes in internes.

organized into categories based on the concepts of needs, barriers, and pathways. The identified themes were used to examine what was learned from the data about the research concerns.

Summary

This research utilized a qualitative research approach to explore the needs, barriers and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador. A combination of availability and purposive sampling was used to select participants from three experiential categories representing the main commer groups of vision rehabilitation services in Newfoundland and Labrador. Data was collected from individual phone interviews and recorded to ensure accuracy. Data obtained from the interviews was coded and organized according to their relevance as needs, barriers, and pathways. The resultant categories are doscribed in the following charter.

Chapter 4

Results

Introduction

This study aimed we typere a sample of individual' experience of vision rehabilitation services: their needs regarding access to services, the variables that can compound or complexite the process, and the puthways that facilitae access and utilization of vision rehabilitation services. The results of this study are organized according to this framework using needs, barriers, and pathways to vision rehabilitation services as the three main headings. Each heading contains a presentation of the findings as it relates to this predict concert.

Presentation of the Findings

In Individual interviews were conducted with sitteen participants, four parents or guardians of children with vision lone, eight working age adults with vision lone, and four older adults with vision. The findings of the research are presented as they relate to the organizing framework of needs, barriers, and pathways. In some cases the findings corresponded with issues identified in the literature review. However, participant intrviews also reviewed ubdiments of twe urungate to this research.

Needs Related to Vision Rehabilitation Services.

In this research lused the term 'need' to refer to the supports and services needed to enable a person to access and use vision rehabilitation services. Needs were identified by examining the experiences of people with vision loss in relation to using and accessing vision rehabilitation services.

Addive technology training. Participants identified assistive technology training as a need and reported availing of training from a number of sources. Participants reports having necesived training in school, from CNIB, and being self relevant, beneficial, accurate, and relatively up to date. However, Joy said while the assistive technology training the received from CNIB has been beneficial at was "not always in depth as 1 would have liked it." She was often mantafield with the assistance provided by CNIB and would context the municipant of the participant being.

Three participants received assistive technology training from CNIB via telephone but said this form of training was not helpful. Corey, a partially sighted man in Labrador, said he needed "hands on" training but CNIB was not able to provide it. CNIB attempted to provide training to him over the phone but "it wasn't beneficial." He went on to say "the hands on thing is the thing with the technology for people with vision loss beause they can't see to operate it." He said the called for assistment but "CNIB attempted by the technology for people with vision loss beause they can't see to operate it." He said the called for assistment but "CNIB to the same the can't see to operate it." Specialist, Assistive Technology] just couldn't leave and come up here to help me work it out."

Psychological and commonliant support. The majority of participants discussed the need for professional counselling services as a part of the vision rehabilitation services offered by CNIR. Participants sid professional coanselling and comotional support is very important because people must adjust to their vision loss emotionally before they are open to accessing other vision rehabilitation services. Participants in each age category agreed that coanselling is helpful throughout the life span not just of frem to fir other them immers who also loss with and are affected by vision loss.

Andrew spoke at length about the need for a professional counceller at CNIB. He said "harl-where your connections is hetween CNIB and the client, if's the councellor," Andrew went on its asy "every one of these, from kids right into the eldes, they need someone to talk and in tends to be a professional counseller," Participants pointed out that counselling services areed to be provided by a professional counseller, not someone that provides other vision rehabilitation services. Participants said counselling lets people know that CNIB cares in addition to providing people with a connection to the comparisation.

The need for emotional support was identified as particularly important by working age participants as they believed emotional support was not available to CNIB clients between the ages of 20 to 65. Andrew said "just the idea of dealing with vision

loss and the change it has in your life you need a little support." Frank said counselling services are needed and are very important for those in the workforce that begin hosing their vision or experience changes in their vision. When speaking about counselling he says "...it is all intertwined. Issues come up all the time and how do you deal with these things? Even for me and I've beav visually imparied for all mp life."

Some working age participants stated that CNB does not provide any pyee of support to them. Intends and working age people with vision loss "have enditing." Four of the working age participants specifically expressed the need of some form of peer support. They believe this would provide CAE licitients with an opportanily to share anduration, provide support to each other, and interact socially. Brends noted that older adults and children can have their peer support needs met outside of CNIB but working age clients also. The general working age participants indicated they are feeling isolated and believe they need a group specifically for working age people because they have different needs and isolate than older adults.

The Canadian Council for the Illiod (CCII) is an organization that addresses the ongoing effects of blindness with programs designed to encourage active participation of people living with vision loss in beal communities, placation, sports and recreation, and employment. They have sixty-free chapters across Canada, including two in Newfoundland and Labrador. Some participants believe that this organization is meeting the emotional needs of people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people with the statement of the providing the people of the providing the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people and the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people of the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people of the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people of the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people of the people with vision loss. They believe CCI is providing the people of the people with vision loss.

support that CNIB is not. Andrew said the organization provides an opportunity for people to get to know themselves and become confictively living with vision loss. He says "just to deal with the idea of harving vision loss and the change in your life, you do need a little bit of extra helps." It be there with bit is bit her privided Pi CCLB. However, Brenda, a working age person from Eastern Newformflund, believes CCB is for older people with vision loss. She described attending CCB outings and feeling they did not have anything to offer to working age people. Once again, highlighting the expressed need for a peer support group specifically designed for working age pople with vision loss.

The need for professional cosmelling was also noted in relation to the emotional distress associated with the loss of a Driver's License due to vision loss. When discussing the loss of his Driver's License, Eugene, an older adult in Central Newfoundland, said "that was the worst thing I found about it, the loss of my license. I wand riving since I was 17."

Ongoing access to connectling was highlighted by participants to deal with fears of increased vision loss and the possibly of being blind. Erin, an other shdir in Western Newfoundand that recently started expectencing vision loss, said she is worried about "what happens when I go in total dataness because I'm terrified of the dark. Counselling with be kinds late when I in in the dark."

Emotional support was described as important to parents of children experiencing vision loss. Amy said "it's more than just the support of the child it's the whole emotional support as well? for her as well as her child. Parents said CNIB is salle to provide recommendations when they for "assak," provide direction, and make referrals to other services when necessary. Parents also said that the support provided by CNIB at children's appointments with the eye care specialist is very important. Parents and CNIB appealing and appointments with the eye care specialist is very important. Parents and CNIB appealing and appointments with the eye care specialist is very important. Parents and CNIB appealing the three the second s

Increase in public and professional Information. Participants believed there is a need for increased public and professional information about the programs and survices officient by CNIII, the benefits of anxistive technology, and the effects of vision loss. A number of participants believe CNII should be publishing regular newsletters to keep clients, professionals, and the general public informed about the programs and services officient by the organization and bighlight new assistive technology as it becomes available. Participants suggested that these newsletters hold be shared with doctors, murses, seedial workers, and other professionals, noting that friend line worker, expectivilly thene visiting needed's beness. The doctored about vision sour and CNIII.

Eleven of the participants said CNIB should increase the number of public information sessions they offer. They believe these information sessions should be used to increase awareness of vision loss, what it is like to live with vision loss, the programs

and services provided by CNIR, and available assistive technology. Participants also pointed out the importance of promoting all public information sessions to ensure awareness amongst the general public and the client population. Frank suggested there be a trained volunteer in each community that can facilitate these sessions on a regular basis.

Participants believe ansitive technology should be an important part of all public information sessions and low and high tech items should be available for demonstration. They aid his would provide an opportunity for hands on experiment with an opportunity to see items and type terms of the set of the set

Participants suggested two specific groups, employers and statents, to which public information sessions should be targeted. Working upper and doler adult participants suggested information session for employers to increase opportunities for poople with vision loss in the workplace. Joy suggested CNIB bring a pernor with vision loss that is currently employed in the session as a mean of promoting the bring of a person with

vision loss. Participants said businesses need to be more accessible to people with vision loss. Danielle noted that it is hard as a person with a disability to find employment in a small community.

A number of participants also expressed a need for information and issues related to vision loss to be taught in schools at all levels. They believe that in addition to a university course aimed at teaching professionals about the causes of vision loss, what it is like to live with vision loss, and how to interact with those living with vision loss, CNIB should conduct information sessions about vision loss with students at all levels of the education system.

Changing needs throughout the life span. Participants discussed the need for ongoing opportunities for vision rehabilitation maining throughout the life span beyond initial contact or referral. This is sue had not been revealed through the course of the laterature review. Eight participants stated that as their vision changed so did their need for vision rehabilitation services and new assistive technology.

Carla is now blind but had partial vision as a child. She recently began independent fiving skills raining to improve and redevelop skills she learned when she still retained partial vision. When speaking about the changing need for vision rehabilitation services throughout the life span, Carla sale "it changes for sure because I mean you learn things as a child that you want to improve as an adult." Frank, a resident of Labadout who is now blind but had partial vision in the part, reinforced Carla's 'sweet and the same set of the

saying his vision rehabilitation needs have "significantly changed" over the years due to changes in his vision. Other participants discussed needing orientation and mobility training to learn new roates when hey moved to new geographical areas. Joy, an older person who is blind, aid she "...came to a new country... and wanted a bit of forientation and mobility] as I wanted to start using roates because I came with a puble do and just startaficate bit of showing mine roates and things. Jike that."

Participants also discussed their changing needs in relation to assistive technology. They noted that devices need to be upgraded and changed as new technology becomes available and people experience changes in their vision. Devices need to be replaced as they become outlated and wear out due to mage. Frank explained the importance of assistive technology: "to device y to use it."

Increased onstart with CNIR, Participants reported a need for increased contact between CNIB and their elients. Nine participants said they have little contact with the organization. A particular concern raised was that CNIB does not keep them up to dule on new information and anaistive technology. This was a dominant theme amongs the working age participants. Andress commented that CNIB needs to make a connection with their elients and go ont and done people what is available. According to Andrew, a working age person that is partially sighted, this is especially true for new clients: "they just have no ides what's wallable."

Participants suggested that CNB should hire a consulied to maintime contact with clients and keep them informed. Parents of children and youth with vision loss indicated a need for someone bic kep in contact with families and provide them with updates. Gillian commented that as their child has gotten older they have less and less contact from CNID. Participants indicated that clients are losing contact with the organization and believe a consulfier could help prevent this from happening. Other participants and they had the initiative and contact CNID for epatients and to see what new anisistive technologies are available for people with vision loss. CNID survices contact SL, John's are irregular and infraquent given the demands on staff. Participants in these areas said they vold like to be notified when CNID speciality are visiting their area to maximite the composition.

Improved access to vision rehabilitation services. In general, puricipants outside GS, bohn's did not believe they were receiving the same level of service as those leving in the eity. Of the fourteen participants that lived outside of SL John's services, such as Brazille training, are not always available to them. Any, who lives in Eastern Newfoundland, and Cerey and Gillian who live in Labrador, said it is offen difficult for vision rehabilitation speculiation to travel to their areas due to weather, scheduling of extra time needed to travel, and the cost associated with travelling. Despite then they would list use an increase in the mether and regularity of vision they result. Lack of awareness about services is a further challenge to access. Brandon, a working age participant in Central Newfoundland, was unaware that low vision assessments were available to him in his community and said he would like this service to be more obtainable to that he could try new magnifers as they became available.

Improved access to services such as orientation & mobility and assistive technology was cited as especially important when needed for work or when someone is living alone. The timeliness of access to services was also highlighted. Joy, now refired, and Frank, a working age client, both said that working age people need to be able to access services immediately in order to gain or keep employment and the urgency is not always met by CMB.

Participants indicated days would like to see an increase in government finding to CNIB to aid in the hinting of additional vision rehabilitation specialists. They believed an increase in the number of vision rehabilitation specialisms, They believed an interase in the number of vision rehabilitation specialisms providing previous could result in increased vision. Any, the mother of a child with vision loss in Eastern Newfoundland, asial her finning viscosity of the strain of the new of the site of the strain early intervention specialist. When solved been toods the said "more staff would gratply be appreciated." In reference to the services the received from the array intervention specialist the said. "there is a grant need for more than one (visit per month)." Participants in other parts of the province indicated they also sometimes have to wait month for a visit of methalistica specialist.

Gillian, the mother of a school aged child with vision loss, expressed a need for an Occupational Therapist in the school system. She said this service is available in school systems in other provinces and would like to see it offered to all students with disabilities in Newformalized and Landor.

Access to assistive technology dema centres and stores. Participants indicated the need for assistive technology demonstration centres and stores throughout the province. Participants reported problems with hiving to rely on the CNB catalogue on two products such as magnifiers. Many participants reported that they did not have access to demo items in their area and some asid they have to parchase items without knowing if they will be of benefits to them. They noted that having low vision assessments and assistive technology centres in their cummunities would rank the then see the items first hand before making a parchase. Fison, a partially sighted woman in Western Newfoundland, asid "you don't per access to [assistive dwice] here in Newfoundland and Labedor anymore." Fison described a situation where she needed to order a replexement mognifies that did not have the certer one cost from the CCBIB catalogue. "Last time I had to order from the catalogue and there are so many magnifiest the I did with know which one to get. Sol don't really know if I did get the right magnifying gass." She said a denos centre would have height and parchase.

Bindon, a participant from Central Newformillusd, also noted the importance of having access to demonstration devices. He was pleased that he did not have to spend money on assistive endoloogh that did not work for him because he had the opportunity to demo the items before making a purchase. He said he tried magnifiers and anisitive technology at his doctor's office and the CNB office in Grand Falls-Window when it housed an ansistive technology store. As a result he was able to identify the items that did not benefit him. "I was fortunit enough to get in a setting, like a doctor setting, like the CNBL... Latenally had the hands on experience before I bought these things so I tried every one that was there..., and rading works. So I ve never had to quend any mensy to so that was a water of time."

Frank agreed that CNIB technology sales are enreliab because devices are not available clowshere in the community and points out that "these devices need to be readily available. You do need to have samples that are available for people to view when the situation arises."

CNIB promotes catalogue and web ordering but participants said this does not work for everyone. They said at 60 people are affaid to purchase items online or in the catalogue expectally when they are unable to see them due to their level of vision loss. Frank points out that "for someone that has a significant vision impairment they can't realize they are als of or the her's looking at on the web anyway."

Is users specific to Labrador. Labrador is a single area of the province, due mainly to its geographical location and sparsely distributed population. In general, vision rehabilitation services are not as accessible in Labrador as they are in Newfoundhand beause all three of the CNIB centres are located on the island portion of the province. Participants in Labrador said CNIB is absent in their area and they often felt forgosten about. They indicated there is a lack of services and the ones that do exist are hard to access. Gillaw was very specific about CNID's lack of visibility in Labrador: "I know that here the CNIB is non-existent." Corey estimated "99%" of people living with vision loss in Labrador area ware GCNIB or the exvises they provide.

Burnelicipants indicated the need for CNIB to have more of a presence in Labrador including the establishment of a CNIB office. They said there is a need for vision relabilitation specialists based in Labrador so that protyle in that areas of the province did not have to want for Vision Rehabilitation Specialists to come from St. John's or Comer Brook. Participants believe services should be available when they are needed and an office in Labrador would be especially beneficial for low vision assessments. Low vision specialists currently carry low vision kits, containing a variety of magnifiers and other vision adds, when trending to Labrador. The purificants believe here wision need to be updated but said this did not resolve the problem because specialists are only able to show a small selection of magnifiers using a mobile kit. Participants also and there are no susistive devices regularly available for demonstration in Labrador and is in to possible for vision greacilists to bring medies of all ansistive technology

particularly of larger items, such as CCTVs. An assistive technology office with a demonstration centre is needed in Labrador because it is difficult for vision rehabilitation specialists to travel with these larger items due to their size and weight. It also takes time to set up these items for use.

In addition to access to demonstration devices, purificants said there is a long wait time for services in Labrador and that the services they are receiving are not meeting their needs. Cerey shall be had to wait more thore for orientation and mobility training because CNIB secialistic did not immediately send someone to Labrador. Some clients said CNIB specialistic did not have the time necessary to spend with individual clients when they travelled to Labrador resulting in limited training apportunities. CNIB specialistis have a limited amount of time to provide vision rehabilitation training and aupport when visiting Labrador. When specking about CNIB Gillan said "I'm sure they're doing the best possible, job they can possibly do. It's unfortunate that that's the one you don't see as often as van bands."

First, observed that services that were available when he was living close to \$3. John's were not accessible when he moved to Labradore. Kuthy an older adult in Labrador was learning Brallie when he liver for \$1. John's that shat also to sup when she moved to Labrador because there was no one there to teach it. Giffian expressed a need for an linerant. Teacher in Labrador as they have no had one for 5 years. "When we had an linerant Teacher here it was finden. The lifticent Teacher was trained when the line trained teacher because the thous. The lifticent teacher was trained with all niterant. Teacher here it was finden. The lifticent teacher was trained

and could do different activities with her [child with vision loss]." She indicated this is an essential service that is available to children in Newfoundland but not Labrador.

Not all participants were negative about the services they received. Although she missed her Braille training Kulty sists dear syster to just check in and have a chat. Her optimism may be related to the fact that she preceives her need for services as minimal noting that she does not receive any vision redubilitation services when the specialitis visit because the does not believe she requires any services.

Barriers to Vision Rehabilitation Services

I use the term 'barrier' in this research to describe the difficulties people have accessing and using vision rehabilitation services. Harriers were identified by exploring the variables that participants described that compound or complicate the process of accessing and using vision rehabilitation services.

Cost of assistive technology. The cost of assistive technology was the barrier most cited by participants. Some participants are doing without needed assistive technology because they cannot afford to parchase items. Seven of the participants, six of whom were of the working age category, polse of the need for an assistive devices funding program. Some of these participants believe CNIB needs to lobby government to make an assistive device finding program reality.

Participants highlighted the benefits of assistive technology to underscore the need for an ansistive devices funding program. They said assistive technology provides them with independence and is a means of communication that keeps them in touch with family, fitends, and asociety. They said it is an essential part of life and they use it every day. Participants reported using assistive technology to access email, webnice, read, write, watch TV, and play sports. Joy said assistive technology "opened up the whole world to mee." Another said assistive devices reconnected him with society. It leaves mentecular glasses to play datts and says after five years of not being involved "it gives me that connection with society again. It's such a big thing just to make you feel a part of everydar vectors."

Funding was described as available to those in need of assistive technology to participate in an educational program or in the workforce. Participants said unsistive technology in mailing it possible, or has made in possible, to ge attheough scheol and graduate. Two of the youth had access to assistive devices that were provided by their school and one of the working age participants discussing ansistive technology. That and "without that I working' have genetic through my chooling."

Working age participants said assistive technology enables them to actively participate in the workforce. Frank said that "the difference between having assistive technology and not having assistive technology is the difference between working and

not working." Iris was one of two working age participants who were employed. Her employer will provide her with assistive technology but the approval process proved mothesome for her. She requested a CCTV through her employer but the approval process was taking too long. She decided to request a much cheaper item instead. This item was approved very quickly. The cheaper item met her needs while using a computer but did not assist the with reaching rinten metrick.

Some participants were able to afford to purchase assistive technology but they still asid there is a need for finding for those that are less fortunate. Purcicipants respected for example there are no funding programs available for those that need assistive technology in their those. Danielit, who purchase last point of a child with vision loss and who is hereeff only partially sighted, such her child's assistive devices that are provided by the school because she cannot afferd to purchase her own items for home use. She said when her child leaves for university she will lose her access to most of the assistive devices: "He's going to take all the equipment with him and 1'm going to need to."

Parents identified the gaps in access to assistive technology between home and school for youth as being an issue. Children and youth with vision loss have access to assistive technology at school but cannot always afford devices for home use. It is not always practical for them to carry devices between home and school.

Participants pointed out that finding is needed not only to purchase assistive technology but also for the replacement and upkeep of items. They asid items become obsolete quickly and need to be upgraded frequently. Some participants said they have purchased items which they cannot afford to repair or replace if they become damaged or give out.

Perception of Individual vision has and partymement in accessing vision rehabilitation services. Participants' perception of their vision loss may have been a barrier to accessing vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology. Not all any programs and services after their initial referral believing they did not require the assistance of CNIII even though a referral had been made. The reasons they gave for not accessing these services indicate a lack of understanding about their vision condition and about the hearding twisme rehabilitation.

Bronds, a working age person that began experiencing vision loss as a child, suid she was not uning vision relabellitation services because the believed the did not require the services. Tagener, and odd suidh tiving in Cortani Newfoundhaid, said that he is currently not using any services because he is waiting for eye surgery and will asses his need for services when it is completed. Kuthy, an other adult living in Labrador, said the was not using vision rehabilitation services because her perception is that longs her vision was using a arry ortsting disc. When such of the had any uservices in the services the services the services and the services the service that the services the second services because her perception is that longs her vision was using a arry ortsting disc. When such of the had any uservices in the second second services because her procession and the second second

rehabilitation needs she said "well, what else can they do? I mean it's getting worse all the time. Quite quickly now I think hut there's nothing to be done about Macular [Degeneration]. It's just a fact of life for us old people." In reality, vision rehabilitation services can benefit a person of any age.

Despite the many benefits of assistive technology six of the participants, two from each nge category, said they did not use assistive devices. The parent and working age participants asial ansistive technology was not used because they believe it is not needed. The older adult participants had a misconception that they were too old to use it or were waiting to see if their vision improved.

Transportation: Transportation was cied as a burier for a number of the participants especially in areas where there are no forms of public transportation available. People with vision load, onch to the end pointo nutrice and may have difficulty accessing and using public transportation due to the travel that may be required to get to transportation access points and laxowing when they are at their desired destination. Participants reported having to rely on family and Friends to bring them on suppositements, greency alonging, and other places onsitie of the home. Fugure visicel his own durings when his license was recorded and he studiedly had to rely on others: "That was the worst thing I found about it, the loss of my license. I was driving aince I was 17." He more relies on this visit ovive him most places.

Danielle said there should be bus service to school available for children with disabilities. She reported that here child cannot use the bus service because the school says they live too close to the school but it is still too far for here child to walk. Danielle said alse has to rely on other parents to drive her child because she does not drive due to here own vision condition.

Personal experiences of COLIB. Participant's perception of CNIB was identified as a barrier to accessing and utilizing vision rehabilitation services. They indicated they believe CNIB programs and services are not meeting the needs of those living with vision toos in the province. Corry noted that has suggested improvements to programs and services but nothing was ever done or changed. Brandon and Brenda reported the same. Andrese commented that a large number of people who are in need are not receiving vision rehabilitation services and therefore CNIB services and practices are not working and need to be changed. His perception is that this is true not just in Newfoundland and Laburdor that cross Cando.

Andrew further commended that CNIB is not keeping alread of hings. If 6 does not believe the current vision redubilitation service delivery model is effective, especially on the West Coast. If believes there needs to be more connection with clients and CNB needs to be more practive rather than responsive: "Instead they wait for someone to come to them. Instead of being protective and going out there and showing people with vision how shull CNB have."

Some participants recognized the financial constraints placed on CNIB and suggested that government should increase their funding to the organization so that they can focus on providing vision relabilitation services. Covery was most candid commenting that he believes CNIB cares more about raising funds than they do about their clients.

Wait for services. Despite participants' general commons about a lack of access to programs and services in regions of the province outside of SL. John's, the wait for access to vision rehabilitation services was described as a barrier only by those living in Labrador. The one exception was Joy, an older adult in Eastern Newfoundland, who tried to get someone from CNIB to come in and mark a new washer and dyer to make it accessible but was told there was not anywork that could come to bhome to b it.

The most extreme wait for services was reported by Corty, a working gase person in Labrador, who said he was 8-10 years without contact from CNIB following the submission of a CNIB (CNIB CNIB and CNI and CNIB show and the discuss pregrams and services and therefore he was unsware of what was available to him. Years hare he reserviced aphone call about taking part in an Adjustment to Vision Lose group and found on about vision chulditotion services as a conf of sarritoristic in the merown.

Eugene, an older adult living in Central Newfoundland, said he did not have to wait for services but did indicate there was some informational disconnect. His nephew went to CNIB and got him a white cane. He was told that the Orientation & Mobility

Specialist would visit to teach techniques for using the cane but he did not hear from CNIB for a number of months. He admitted that he had not called to follow-up as he believed he did not need the service.

Andrew indicated that services in the Western Region have changed in recent years due to staffing changes in the Corner Brook office of CNB. He said there are currently no independent living skills, orientation & mobility, or assistive technology specialists in the area therefore clients have to wait for services from St. John's. He was unaware that there is a half-time assistive technology specialist working in the Corner Brook office of CDB.

Pathways to Vision Rehabilitation Services

I use the term 'pathway' to describe the ways in which people find and use vision rehabilitation services. Pathways were identified by asking participants about the available resources that assist people in accessing and using vision rehabilitation services.

Source of referral to CNIB. Eye care specialists are an important pathway to Vision rehibilitation services in Newfoondland and Lahandee but one that could be improved. Contrasy to the problems that emerged in the literature related to delayed or non-existent referral, the majority of participants interviewed had been referred to CNIB by an eye care specialist. They said their detects discussed CNIB programs and services

with them but the information was often vague. Andrew said he raised the issue of CNIB to his doctor but even though a referral was made to CNIB on his behalf no information or reinforcement was provided by his doctor.

Eugene learned about CNIB when he went to an information session offered by the organization about different eye conditions. He found this very beneficial as he was able to talk to others with vision loss and professionals in the field. Corey found out abeut CNIB by means of the Mobile Eye Van that would visit Labrador. He was later referred to CNIB by genetics researcher at Memorial University.

Other providers of vision rehabilitation services. Initerate Teachers were identified as a pathway because they assisted students and families with accessing vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology while also providing basis training. With the excerçuion of Labadoe, all the parent spurioginals had an linearized Teacher working with their child. They indicated that linearut Teachers provide a lot of assistance with obtaining assistive technology for their child, assistive technology training, and conducting information sessions in classrooms. Parent hidd express a concern that the number of hours their child works with an linearut Teacher had been reduced. Heather thought this was hours a negative impact on the rdivid Sevenent.

The Hadley School for the Blind is also a pathway to vision rehabilitation services because it enables people to learn a selection of vision rehabilitation services in their home environments regardless of where they live. As mentioned earlier, The Hadley School for the Blind promotes independent living through distance education programs for individuals who are blind or visually impaired, their families and professionals. Danielle stabilish and he is learning Braille through The Hadley School for the Blind via a distance education program. She chose this route because the did not believe Braille training was available to be frough CHR bleause of where the lives in the province.

Partnerships and collaboration. Participants identified increased partnerships and collaboration between organizations providing services to people with vision loss as a potential pathway. Participants believe there is currently a lack of communication and partnership between organizations, expectally CNIB and CCIB. Participants believe the level of service provided to people with vision loss in New founditud and Labrador would be improved if these organizations worked in partnership.

Initial context. The theme of initial contact in an important element of vision rehabilitation pathways because it provides insight into the motivation of a perton out and use vision rehabilitation services. Upon referral participants identified a number of reasons for initially availing of CNIP vision rehabilitation services. The majority of participants needed seeme type of assistance and training related to day to day activities. This included needing assistance identifying money, completing bounded of heres, accessing the CNIP illerary, assistance in school, and getting around a home and entidel.

son "would never be able to cope daily" without assistive technology and vision rehabilitation services.

Less tangible reasons for contacting CNIB included needing support and guidance, wanting to know what was available to people with vision loss, and a desire to connect with others experiencing vision loss.

Access to vision rehabilitation services in communities. Access to vision rehabilitation services in communities was identified as a pathway to meet the previously discussed send for improved access to vision rehabilitation services. To where of the patricipants reported receiving vision rehabilitation services in their home and/or community. Not only did him make services more accessible to patricipants it also give them the opportunity to learn and practice their new skills in their home environmeent. Constructions and communities included low vision assessments, orientation and mobility training, independent living skills training, and early intervention. Patricipants noted that home visits were very helpful as items stand stores, washers, and themsestats need to be marked in the home with high contrast tactile pair to assist with the accessibility of these times. On their orientation and mobility was also reported as beneficial. For example, many rand communities do not have sidewalks. Therefore, skills learned in larger centres would not translate early to home communities.

Adjustment to vision loss groups. Adjustment to vision loss groups were identified as a pathway to vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology. Four of the abilt participants, beated in various area of the province, and were currently participating in an Adjustment to Vision Loss (AVL) group program. Engene said the AVL group is very enjoyable noting that it provides an opportunity to learn from others of all ages. Other participants said AVL groups enabled people to make life long connections and flow valuable friendships. A Abres said it through people out of their shells, opened them up to opportunities, let people know that there are others living with vision loss, and that support in available. Curey said the group helped people gain confidence and was an opportunity to talk to different people about your problems. He said participants great opportunity to talk to different people about your problems. He

Other participants commented that AVL groups enabled people to access programs and services internal and external to CNID. Corey said the emotional and peer support offered by the Adjustment to Vision Less group gave him the courage to seek out and use other vision rehabilitation services.

Andrew, Corey, and Brandon were unaware that AVL groups were still offered by CNIB and commented that it was a positive program and they were disappointed it was no longer available. Corey commented that the group was a wonderful program and he believed three should be 2-3 groups offered per week. This demonstrates the important

role CNIB has in making sure their clients are aware of the programs and services they offer to ensure the continuation of existing pathways to vision rehabilitation services.

Summary

Participant interviews identified a number of needs, barriers, and padways related to accessing and using vision relabilitation services in Newfoundland and Labredor. In terms of needs participants discussed the need for assistive technology training, probability and mentional support, increase in public and professional information, and changing needs throughout a person's life. In addition to this they discussed the desire for increased contact with (CNIR, the need for improved access to vision rehabilitation sarvices, access to assistive technology demo centres and stores, and issues specific to Labredor.

The barriers discussed related to the cost of assistive technology and the postponement of vision rehabilitation training due to their personal perceptions or misperceptions of vision loss and the benefits of vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology. Other barriers identified were transportation, personal experiences of CNB, and walf are services.

Participants also identified a number of existing or potential pathways to vision rehabilitation services. These included the source of their referral to CNIB, other providers of vision rehabilitation services, partnerships and collaboration, initial contact,

access to vision rehabilitation services in communities, and adjustment to vision loss

groups.

Chapter 5

Discussion

Introduction

The purpose of this research was to identify the exects, harriser, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labardoser. Although timiled in noce, this hard provides valuable inight in the challenges and benefits associated with accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province and will assist the CNBI Newfoundland and Labardov Vision Health and Rehabilitation Committee in the development of a vision health framework for the province.

Using the conceptual lens of social inclusion, this chapter discusses the findings as they relate to the goals of the CNIII NewFoundhard and Labrador Vision Rehabilitation Committee. The discussion concludes with a summary of the limitations of the study and recommendations for social wede precisive, policy, and research.

Discussion

Participants agreed that vision rehabilitation services were a necessity even though they initially availed of vision rehabilitation services for different reasons ranging from practical goals, such as learning to complete household chores and mobility skills, to more intangible needs such as support and guidance on issues related to the emotional impact of vision loss. The findings demonstrate that people experiencing vision hoss in this province face a number of challenges related to the availability and accessibility of vision rehabilitation services and programs and that these challenges are exacerbated for those who are living in the province's more rural and remoste regions. The findings also underecore that vision rehabilitation is a livelong process.

The organizing framework of needs, barriers, and pathways did facilitate the analysis but it was also clear that the outogeness were not necessarily separate and distinct from each other. The next section of this chapter therefore summarizes in a more general way what we can learn from participants about vision rehabilitation services in this province.

Changing needs throughout the life span and continued contact with CNIB.

A dominant theme throughout the participant interviews was the need for adaptation of vision redubilitation training and services as vision needs change throughout the life span. If clients are engaged with vision redubilitation regularizations on an ongoing busis they will be more likely to contact them if they require additional strences and supports. Tall' of the paraticipants identified the need for additional vision redubilitation training, emotional support, or new assistive devices as their vision changed. Participants reported they would like to see an increase in the amount of contact they have with CNIB and indicated they would like the engenization to leage them informed adoutin reasonistive and the metal strength of the metal strength of the set of th devices and upcoming events. Continued contact with CNIB is a potential pathway to ensuring that people feel comfortable contacting the organization when, and if, their vision rehabilitation needs change.

The majority of literature reviewed focused on initial access as a pubmy to vision redubilization services. There was a lack of information pertaining to the need for vision redubilitation services throughout a person's life. This is an important insight in relation to the gasls of the CNIB Newfoundhard and Labrador Vision Health and Redubilitation Committee framework. In order to facilitate the continual best quality of life for people twith vision loss findings suggest vision redubilitation services need to be accessible to people throughout their life span as they experience changes in vision and life circumstances. People may used to access additional vision redubilitation training at seceral points in their life to adapt of develop kills to remain independent, care for others, and mutating acod quality of life.

Adaptation of vision rehabilitation training and arevices throughout the life span is also necessary to ensure the social inclusion of people with vision loss. Changes in vision may require access to new assistive technology and additional vision rehabilitation training to exable continued employment and sustain economic inclusion. These adaptations may include additional assistive technology training, orientation and mobility training related to the commute to work and adety within the work environment, and independent fring data literating to assist with the completion of parks. Lifeong

access to vision rehabilitation services is also necessary to ensure the functional, participatory, and physical inclusion of people with vision loss. The findings suggest there is a need for organizations that provide vision rehabilitation services and programs to focus beyond the initial referral. Outping vision rehabilitation training may be necessary for people with vision loss to remain actively involved in their communities, access transectation and notice classes, and notely communities.

Source of referral to CNIB and increase in public and professional

information. In the review of the literature it was noted that eye care professionals typically do not refer patients to vision rehabilitation services and most people are referred to services by a friend or family member. In contrast, this study identified this group of professionals as a pathway to vision rehabilitation services as the majority of participants in this study had been referred to CMI by an eye care speciality.

The literature review also revealed that eye care specialists provide limited information about coping with vision loss and often wait until the end of treatment to suggest vision rehabilitation services. Participants in this study supported this notion, all but one reporting that while heir decises had discussed CNB programs and services with them the information was sometimes vagus. This suggests that there is a need for CNB to work with eye care professionals to ensure they are knowledgeable about the vision rehabilitation programs and services offered by CNB and equipped to provide details discussions to their patients and source questions about the organization.

Participant interviews did indicate a lack of referral among professionals other than eye care specialists. This could be due to be a lack of knowledge about CNIB among other professional groups or lack of avareness that they are able to maker referrantion the organizations. Knowledge of CNIB programs and services is especially important for professionals working at the community level because they often visit people in their own environments and are able to observe if a person is having difficulties with activities of elub leving due to visit noss.

There is a need for CNIB to work with all professionals to increase knowledge of CNIB vision nehabilization services, their benefit to people with vision loss especially in the early stages, and the referral process. It is anticipated this would increase the number of clients being referred to CNIB and improve the level of information provided to a patient when being referred to CNIB process and services.

Public and professional education. Participant interviews supported the view that access and utilization of vision rehabilitation services would be improved by investing in education, awareness, and health promotion campaigns. Participants believed CNIB should increase the number of newsletters and public information sessions they provide. These initiatives should target specific andiences, such as doctors, social workers, numes, and other professionals. Participants suggested this would improve awareness of vision relabilitation services and access to vision relabilitation services and assistive tenhology.

Burnicipants also saw the benefit of conducting information sessions for employers and those in the work force experiencing vision loss. These assistences and hele ensure the economic inclusion of people with vision loss because they could increase the licitiches of companies hiring a person with vision loss. Participants believed these sessions would be a way of premoting the abilities of people with vision loss and their capability of participating in the workforce. These sessions may also be a means of support for current and potential CAIII clients by letting them know they do not have to evice un their emplowered ins boxes. These rescions loss.

Overall participants believed that CNIB needs to raise awareness of their programs and services, about the causes of vision loss, and what it is like to live with vision loss. Participants in Labrador also believed that CNIB needed to do a better job of raising awareness of the organization, especially the programs and services they offer, and making CNIB receivable in that area of the province.

Public information session could help ensure the cultural and relational inclusion of people with vision loss as participants reported feeling marginalized because the general public does not understand vision loss and the abilities of the loss lines (visit vision loss. There is a need for public information to increase knowledge about the abilities of people with vision loss and how to interact with the population. It is anticipated that such public information sessions could improve respect for popole with vision loss, responsion of the visities, and their countributions to sector: The value of CMID

information sessions and public events should not be overlooked as participants reported accessing ONB programs and services after having attended such an event. These types of events introduce people to the organization and provide an opportunity for them to make further context.

Referal to CMB program and services from all sources and increase in public and professional information is important. They help facilitate the best quality of life for people with vision loss to improve the facilitation of oppeta security visions relabilitation services and increasing the knowledge of the abilities of people with vision loss amongst the general public. An increase in public knowledge would result in improved interactions between people with vision loss and the general population. It would also help remove some of the atigma societation with vision loss.

Public education also has the potential to roduce the incidence of vision loss and blindness through early detection. Public education can use used as a platform to highlight the causes of vision loss and the need for regular eye exams. Regard eye exams are necessary for the early detection of eye diseases leading to vision loss and blindness. This is turn on roduce the exercise of dimensions vision loss.

Perception of individual vision loss and postponement in accessing vision rehabilitation services. Individual perception of vision loss may be a barrier to people accessing vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology. Those that chose not to avail of services or devises cind reasons that had been discussed in the literature such as

waiting for eye surgery to be completed in order to determine if services would still be required and believing that vision loss was a natural part of aging therefore little could be done to assist. Participants also were not convinced that assistive technology would be beneficial.

Paraticipant interviews supported the idea that people with vision loss need to be made aware that vision relabilitation services and assistive technology can benefit them at any stage of vision loss and at any age. In New foundiland and all abandor as in the ext of Canada, people often have to wait extended periods of time for eye surgeries. This is time that could be spent participating in vision rehabilitation training. Although vision loss can be a routh of the aging process older adults need to be made aware of the benefits of vision rehabilitation training and learn not to dismiss vision loss as a natural part of the aging process.

People with vision loss need access to assistive technology to understand the benefits of devices and the improvements they can make in their life. Access to assistive technology would emple people to try the devices and understand how they can contribute to their independence. Vision rehabilitation providers need to promote the benefits of vision rehabilitation arrives and assistive technology for all people with vision how, recardles on ong, benef vision, and the duration of vision how.

The postponement of accessing vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology can have an impact on a person's quality of life and their inclusion in society.

People may experience economic haubhips became they may unnecessarily give up their employment, believing they can no longer work when vision relabilitation services and assurise devices may abelito to assist them reforming their job. Delay in accessing vision rehabilitation services may also effect a person's functional and physical inclusion because they may not have the skills to remain active members of their communities, use transportation services, and access public heres.

Improved access to vision rehabilitation services, associate technology, and transportations. For people with vision loss to experience optimal quality of life they need have access twision rehabilitation services, associate technology, and accessible transportation. Participant interviews supported reports that CNIB services may not be universally available and equily accessible to all people with vision loss due to staffing and geographical challenges (Maryichka, 2009) and there is an unequal distribution outside of St. John's, especially those in Labador, dal not believe they were receiving the same level of service an shell counterparts in the capital region of the province and said it was difficult to access services where they live as services are not readily available to them.

Transportation was reported by most participants as a barrier to accessing vision rehabilitation services. For those living in rural areas of the province there is little, if any, public transportation available. Participants reported having to rely on family members

and friends to assist them with transportation to medical appointments, grocery shopping, and other daily activities outside of the hone. Access to public transportation wherever possible is imperative to ensure independence and enable access to vision rehabilitation services, community resources, and businesses.

One way to meet the demain for nervices in all areas of the province is the thring of additional vision rehabilitations specialists. The hiring of additional preclaims would increase the number of professionals beached throughout the province. It would allow increase the number of professionals beached throughout the provide vision rehabilitation services increasing the number of vision received and the duration of vision. The anomulo of time spent travelling to rund areas in order to provide vision rehabilitation services can be prodomatic for specialists due to the geographical area that needs to be covered. Participants and the specialists do not havys have enough time to provide the level of arrive demond necesary.

Another way to meet the demand for vision rehabilitation services is the opening of additional CNIB centres in various regions of the province. These centres could be located in areas of high demand and serve the outlying areas. The centres could also house assistive technology demo items, providing people with an opportunity to view and try various assistive devices.

A partnership with the four provincial health authorities, Eastern Regional Health, Central Regional Health, Western Regional Health, and Lahnako-Grenfell Regional Health, could also provide an opportunity infor people with vision to have improved access to vision rehabilitation services and ansistive technology. Visiting vision rehabilitation specialistic could provide sarvice out of local health offices, rehealing the need for travel within the region. This would also provide additional time for each client visit because precisalistic would not have to spend time setting up equipment for each session. The regional health authorities could also provide space for the housing of assistive technology denoi tems, providing people in the area an opportunity to visor the tems and try dens to denoime their effectiveness.

The implementation of those initiatives would improve access to vision rehabilitation services, assistive technology, and reduce transportation barriers for clients in all areas of Newformland and Larbacky. This could facilitate the economic inclusion of people with vision loss enabling them to find employment or continue working as they would have timely access to the services and devices needed for successful employment. There is also the potential to improve functional, participatory, and physical inclusion as improved access to vision rehabilitation services and transportations would enable people services and public places. Furthermore there is an opportunity to improve the political and structural inclusion of people with vision loss by removing systematic harriers, improving accession causers thuilding, and provide theores the proving restorement.

initiatives could change the current system of vision rehabilitation service delivery in Newfoundland and Labrador and improve the environment so that it is more accessible to people with vision loss.

There is also the potential to improve the public perception of vision loss in all areas of the province because residents would see people with vision loss living independent, active lives as a result of vision rehabilitation training and assistive technology. Community members would see people with vision loss traveling independently, completing duily tasks such as shopping, and being involved in sports and community groups.

Equal access to services is a significant issue for older persons given the statistics cited in the introduction that one in eight people in the province can expect to live with significant vision loss after less qet of 52 (SMR, 2008). It is also important to note that the majority of those living in rural locations will be older adults due to the continuous outnigration of youth in these areas (Leosomic and Statistics Branch Department of Finance, 2005).

Psychological and emotional support. Despite the fact that large numbers of people with vision loss experience depressive symptoms (Southall et al., 2008), psychological and emotional support is often overlooked in the current model of vision rehabilitation services. It is also known that psychological and emotional factors can be a based on the service of the service of the service as people must deal with the

emotional and psychological impacts of vision loss in order to be comfortable fully availing of vision rehabilitation training. These issues were confirmed by participants in this study. There is a need for psychological and emotional support within the current model of vision rehabilitation services in New foundhand and Labrador in the form of individual, family, and proop counselling.

In Individual and group counselling services are needed throughout a person's life as they adjust to their changing vision and its impact on life simulations. Counselling also assists family members cope with the vision loss of a lovel one. Vision loss affects not only the individual experiencing vision loss but also those closest to them. Family members need to be able to speak with a professional counsellier to discuss their own algustness the process and changing relationships. Participants stressed the importance of these services being proceeding to the vision of lower down.

Pspelodigical and emotional support is an important aspect of social inclusion. People need to believe they are valued and respected in their homes, communities, and society in general. Psychological and emotional datress can acuse people to become withdrawn from the friends, family, and society. They may choose to stop working, participating in groups, and availing of programs and arevices. Support is needed to ensure that people with vision loss do not experience unnecessary emotional handblips, and that they result the experiments of acute members of acuty.

CNIB does provide some emotional support in the form of group programming and given the significance of psychological and emotional support they need to promote this program amongst their client base. Some participants were not aware of the Adjustment to Vision Loss group program and others who had already taken the course were not aware that it was still being offerent to clients in NewSomidian and Lahnako.

Psychological and emotional support is clearly an important pathway to people accessing vision rehabilitations evices and a determinant of a person's quality of life. People may need the assistance of a professional counsellor to help them adjust to their vision loss and feel comfortable accessing vision rehabilitation services. Vision loss can also place a great deal of strain on personal relationships and a professional counsellor knowledgeable about vision loss could help couples and families overcome there issues.

Assistive technology demo centres and stores and assistive technology

training. There is a need for access to assive technology demo item and lead stores to parchase devices. Assistive technology enables people with vision loss to experience the best quality of filte possible. It is an imputent determinant of accel inclusion as participants asid it provided them with independence and enabled them to participate in school and the workflorce. Assistive technology also makes it possible for people to stay in touch with friends and family, participate in society through information sharing and social networking, and improve access to mable transportation accommunity

resources. Assistive technology assists a person with vision loss to read a bus schedule, read labels and price tags when shopping, and even play sports.

Assistive technology demo centres and stores are beneficial and needed throughout the province. These services enable users to try various assistive devices to determine which devices would best meet their needs and provides the opportunity to immediately particulate the device. This prevents participants from spending money on devices that would not benefit them and from having to wait for devices to be delivered. Participants expressed fusitation when they did not have the opportunity to experiment with ansistive devices before purchasing and ended up spending money on devices that were ineffective.

In this study, the majority of participants were not using any assistive devices which may support the literature that people chosen not to use ansitive devices because they are not able to view them before purchasing (Gold et al., 2006) and the view that assistive devices need to be available for demonstration and hands on experimentation to eliminate the burriers associated with accessing and using assistive technology. This is the only way people will know if a device is suitable and will meet ther needs.

For those who do avail of assistive technology, training is essential and may result in an increase in compliance with the use of assistive technology (Gold & Zavela, 2005). Participants in this study agreed there is a need for increased training opportunities from CSIR. Although CSIR provided most of the assistive technology used by participants,

many reported being self trained in the use of assistive devices or utilizing assistive technology training services outside of CNIB. Participants believe the assistive technology training provided by CNIB needs to be more in-depth and the services need to be improved for cliston sonikid of S2. John's.

The majority of assistive technology training provided to participants from CNIB was via techphone. Given that CNIB has only one full time and one part-time assistive technology specialist is difficult of them to travel dromglout the province to offer hands on training. This is not the preferred method of providing training as people offen need hands on assistance learning how to use assistive technology. One way of providing this service to clients may be how to raine assistive technology. One way of providing this service to clients may be how the trained volunteers available in communities to provide individual training to the other terms real.

Cost of assistive technology. Participants stressed the importance of assistive technology and the need for all people with vision loss to have access to devices at school, in the workforce, and at home. It is an integral part of life for people with vision loss and there is a need for equal access. The development of a provincial assistive devices program would be a pathway to ensuring that all people have equal access to assistive technology.

Research indicated the rising cost of assistive technology is significantly affecting the benefits of vision rehabilitation services for people with low or fixed incomes (Gold et al., 2006). The cost of assistive technology was identified as a significant barrier for

participants of this study. Participants confirmed that three is a lack of familing programs to assist people with acquiring assistive devices and they are answare of the eligibility criteria for known family programs. Participants reported doing without devices or settling for chapter alternatives because they are not able to affield the assistive technology they require. People are not able to maximize their vision rehabilitation training if they do not have the assistive devices they require to aid them throughout duily life.

The cost of assistive technology has an impact on the economic, political, and structural inclusion of people with vision loss. In general, people do not have the income to purchase assistive technology that would define in meeting that thosis needs and participating in society. The development of an anistive devices funding program would remove the systematic barriers involved with accessing assistive technology and bring about change. A provincial assistive devices pregam or solid-site would enable people with vision loss to increase their independence through access to device that would be responsive to their individual needs. Assistive technology and here appendence through loss to participate fulfy in life and needs to be made available to all people regardless of their economic status.

Limitations of the Study

Although the participants provided rich insight into the experience of accessing and using vision rehabilitation services, the small sample size limits the transferability of the findings to the overall population of people living with vision loss in Newfoundland and Labrade.

Time and cost hurters also caused limitations in this study. Time burriers were created by the fact the CNB Newfoundland and Labradov Usions Health and Rehabilitation Committee had a timeframe in which the study needed to be completed in order to lobby government for the development of a vision health immoveds for Newfoundland and Labradov. These time constraints affected the number of participants that would be interviewed and the duration of interviews. The number of participants and the length of interviews had to be managashle to ensure that time lines were met and the study would he interviewe had depth expected for the Manter of Social Work degree thesis.

The scope of the project was further limited because CNIB did not have the financial resources to complete a fully developed needs assessment and cost barriers affected the method used to conduct participant interviews. Face to face interviews were not feasible in this study due to the cost associated with travelling throughout the province of NewGoutland and Landset or unce with participants.

Another limitation of this study, related to cost and time constraints, was the use of the CNBI elicent its to recruit participants. This sampling strategy excluded those that have not accessed or near vision relativisitients nervices creating at elars has in the findings. Access to this group of potential participants would have provided insight into the needs of those that have never accessed vision relabilitation services and the barriers that have kept this population from accessing the services. The needs of this population and the barriers they expectience may be very different from the sample used in this study. However, this was an exploratory study and an understanding of users' past and current experiences of using and accessing vision rehabilitation services provided important information about key directions in the development of a strategic provincial vision beath plan.

The informed consent protocal appeared to be a further limitation of this study. A large number of potential participants were constanted and chose to not receive understantian about the study. In additions to this, a number of participants chose not to participate once they did receive the information. Discussions with older adduts suggested large were information by the processor of informed consent and did no believe they were competent enough to agree to participants. Some older adduts had agreed to participate to accelende a there having the consent form real sugging they did not think they should continue without the advice of their children or another person. This did not appear to be a concern for participants from the entrgetres of parents of children with vision host and working gread that process. The resistance of older adduts had proved to make the process of the resistance of older adduts provide the sum of the study of the resistance of older adduts to provide

informed consent seemed to be due to the length of the consent form. The need for the use of plan language to accommodate varying literacy levels resulted in a consent form that was four pages in length. In hindsight, the document could have been further condensed to help eliminate the concerns related to informed consent amongst older participants.

The literature review was limited due to the lack of research about vision relabilitation services, especially in Newfoundland and Labrador. Much of the research related to vision rehabilitation services and program development is new and has not yet reached the evaluation stage.

By previous employment with CNIL, although beneficial to my knowledge of vision rehabilitation services, preved to be a limitation of this study. As the interviewer I was in a situation other lwas conducting interviews with sit granicipants I had a previous working relationship with. Participant interviews sometimes discussed programs that I had developed while employed at CNIL. Participants did not always discuss their experiences in detail and relied on me to understand their experiences haved on our history. This my have also affected the integrity of the discussion because participants may not have wanted to disclose negative views of the programs. However, participants new to vision rehabilitation services discussed these programs openty, not knowing I had been involved in their development. This factor presented fatther endances at times when I know the limiters of the disclose presented fatther endances at times when I know the disclose the programs providing about

programs and services was incorrers. Despite my previous employment with CNIN1 aimed to remain objective and unbiased while conducting participant interviews. In these intrances I would continue with the interview at If did not have any previous knowledge of CNID hat at the end of the interview of V would provide them with the correct information. For example, one participant believed CNIB in Newfoundland and Labrader charged clients for white causes while either provinces provided them for of charge. Informed the client after the interview that this was incorrect and CNIB in Newfoundland and Labrader did in far provide the with season clients.

The interview guide also proved to limit the research findings. As the interviews progressed it was discovered that the quantions contained in the original interviews guide were not gaining rich, descriptive information about the needs, barriers, and pathways related to vision relations envices. To example, the questions "what ansistive technology have your found the most beneficial?" Least beneficial?" simply generated a last of assistive devices used by participants. It would have been more valuable to ask how the assistive technology beneficial the person. For future research it would be important to determine with a plotfield the preson. You future research with wall be important to determine with a plot find by first personary as more the research uncertain.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice, Policy and Research

Social workers need to be aware of the profound impacts of vision loss on individuals, families, and communities as identified in the research. They need to be concisions of the psychological and controlution impacts of vision loss as the research confirms that the impacts of vision loss are not exclusively physical. In addition to this, they need be sensitive to the fact that a person with vision loss may be at an increased risk for depression. Social workers should also be attentive to how vision loss may be affecting minity moments because they too have to adjust tead allow the visit vision loss.

Second workers, expectally at the macro level, must help advocate for modifications and improvements to current policies and programs that impact popple with vision loss. They must be involved in the development, implementation, and monitoring of a vision beath strategy for the province to ensure the best quality of life for popple living with vision loss in the province and reduce the incidence of vision losa and blindness through public calculation and early detection. Social workers have a specialized role to poly in this initiative because they are able to identify accial problems and are skilled at suggesting legislative and other softities. They are also skilled in advocating for the rights of those i riving with disabilities and researching and analyzing policies, programs, and regulations:

Research is a crucial aspect of social work practice because it informs and shapes practice through the development of new interventions, and provides the opportunity for

critical analysis of current and proposed interventions. Research helps to ensure that the best method of intervention is used and most importantly that no unnecessary harm comes to clients.

There is an opportunity for further research into issues related to wision health and relabilitation in NewFoundland and Labrador. Further research is needed to examine the barriers to vision relabilitation services as they relate to those that have never accessed the services. There is also an opportunity for further research into the need for access to vision relabilitation services throughout the life span. Present research focuses on the initial contact and referral but it is also beneficial to investigate if people are accessing and utilizing vision relabilitation services when needed that the initial referral. Further research will help provide an evidence base for best practices related to the expansion of vision relabilitation services in NewFootallund and Labrador.

This research has contributed to a before understanding of the needs, buriers, and pubways to vision rehabilitation services in Newfordatland and Labrador and the role social workers have neuraing that popels with vision loss have access to the services. Social workers have neuraing that popels with vision loss have access to the services. Social workers have access the services of the services. The second that information and evaluates test practices.

Conclusions

The primary goal of this study was to explore the needs, barriers and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundhand and Labrador. A qualitative study was undertaken using individual interviews with CNBI citotis from three citotian gas groups and from each of the four provincia health authorities to ensure a cross sample of commerces were given a voice. Participants described their personal experience of the needs, burriers, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services and the results chapter discussed the themes that emerged from these discussions.

In haddinon to what was learned from the literature about the general vision rehabilitation needs of persons with vision loss, several elements emerged that appear to be unique to the province of NewFoundland and Labrador. Participants discussed the ened for vision rehabilitation services and new anxietive technology throughout a person's life apan due to changes in vision and life situations. The expansive and isolated goography of the province has an important influence on accessibility and awareness of vision rehabilitation services particularly for residents of Labrador. It also appears that there are a higher number of cyc care specialitis referring people to vision rehabilitation services in Nevefordmind and Labrador than in other provinces in courses.

Participant interviews supported the call for improved access to assistive devices. An essential part of ensuring this happens is the development of an assistive devices

funding program. People with vision loss are doing without essential devices because they cannot afford them. These devices enable people to participate in school, the workforce, and their communities. They are also essential for ensuring independence in their hornes.

As was noted in the introduction to this thesis, the impacts of vision loss to individuals and communities are profound and costly and will continue to grow in an aging society. At the same time, vision rehabilitation services and assistive technology have been identified as protective factors in the social and economic inclusion of persons with vision loss. Recognizing these realities the CNIB Newfoundland and Labrador Vision Rehabilitation Committee came together to propose a provincial vision health strategy. This study contributed to the goals of the committee by identifying the outstanding vision rehabilitation needs of a small sample of people with vision loss in the province and the barriers that are preventing them from fully accessing and utilizing programs and services. An exploration of pathways to vision rehabilitation services was also important because it identified the reasons people sought out and accessed vision rehabilitation services. This information can help improve the relevance and accessibility of vision rehabilitation services in Newfoundland and Labrador thus expanding opportunities for people with vision loss to participate fully in the life of their

102

References

- Access Economics Pty Limited. (2009). The cost of vision loss in Canada: Summary report. Toronto: COS & CNIB.
- Auerbach, C. F., & Silverstein, L. B. (2003). Qualitative data : An introduction to coding and analysis. New York: New York University Press.
- Burhmann, R., Fielden, M., & Hodge, W. (2007). Forecasting the vision loss epidemic in Canada: Projections of cause specific blindness. Abstract. Montreal: The Eye, the Brain and Low Vision.
- CNIB. (2011a). FAQ About vision loss. Retrieved from http://www.enib.ca/en/faq/vision-loss/; accessed 18 June 2011.

CNIB, (2011b). Assistive technology: Retrieved from http://www.enib.ca/en/services/products/assistive-tech/; accessed on 10 March 2011.

CNIB. (2010). CNIB Nonfoundiand and Labrador vision health and rehabilitation committee. Retrieved from http://www.enib.ca/enicos/foundiand/activities/vision_health_rehabilitation_com mittee/eldenta area-accessed on 30 Aref 2010.

- CNIB. (2008). The need for a provincial vision health strategy in Newfoundland and Labrador. Unpublished paper.
- CNIB. (2007). Age-related macular degeneration (AMD): Take a closer hosk... before it's too late: A journalist's guide to AMD. Retrieved from www.enib.ca/eni/about/media/_Journalist_GuidetoAMDEN_FINALdoc; accessed on (7) June 2011.
- CNIB. (2005). VOICE in health policy: The impact of health policy gaps on low vision services in Canada. Toronto: CNIB.

Canadian Council for the Blind. (2011). About us. Retrieved from http://www.cebrational.net/content/index.php?option=com_content&view=article &id=53<emid=54; accessed 09 April 2011.

Creswell, J. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Department of Health and Community Services. (2007). Provincial healthy aging: Policy framework. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/publications/ha_policy_framework.pdf, accessed on 19 October 2010.

Economics & Statistics Department of Finance. (2005). Demographic change: Newfoundland and Labrador issues & implications. St. John's, NL: Government of Newfoundland & Labrador

Federal/Provincial/Territorial Ministers Responsible for Seniors. (2007). Howing together for seniors: A tool late to promote senior's social integration in community services, programs and publicless. Retrieved from http://www.seniora.alberts.ca.Seniors/docs/WorkingTogetherForSeniors.pdf; accessed on 01 Match 2011.

Frazee, C. (2003). Thumbs up! Inclusion, rights and equality as experienced by youth with disabilities. Toronto: The Laidlaw Foundation.

Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59-82.

Gold, D., & Zuvela, B. (2005). The impact of health policy gaps on low vision services in Canada. Toronto: CNIB.

Gold, D., Zuvela, B., & Hodge, W.G. (2006). Perspectives on low vision service in Canada: A pilot study. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 41(3), 348-354.

- Gold, D., Zuvela, B., & Shaw, A. (2008). Canadian seniors with vision loss: How are they faring? Abstract book of Vision 2008 the 9th international conference on low vision. Montreal: Canada.
- Goss Gilroy. (2007). HCS disability supports project. Report to the Department of Health and Community Services. St. John's, NL: Unpublished.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2007). Our blueprint for the future. Retrieved from http://www.hrle.gov.nl.ca/hrle/disabilities/consultations.html; accessed on 19 October 2010.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2001). Programming for individual needs: Teaching children who are blind ar visually impaired. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov.al.exieduk.kl.2/studentsupportservices/publications/TeachingSt udenthillind afficiencesid on 00 February 2011.
- Government of Ontario. (2010). Assistive devices program. Retrieved from http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/public/program/adp/adp_mn.html; accessed 14 April 2010.
- Hick, Steven (1998). Canada's unique social history. Retrieved from http://www.socialpolicy.ca/cush/m5/m5-+16.stm; accessed 07 April 2011.

- Human Resources, Labour and Employment (2010). Provincial government announces consultations to develop a strategy for the inclusion of persons with disabilities. Retrieved from http://www.releases.gov.al.ca/veleases/2010/htlc9902a01.htm; accessed of May 2011.
- Hutchinson, A., & Lee, B. (2004). Exploring social inclusion in practice: Perspectives from the field. *Canadian Social Work Review*, 21 (2), 119–136.

Industry Canada. (2010). Assistive technology links. Retrieved from http://www.at-links.gc.ca/zx10000E.asp; accessed 19 October 2010.

- Jin, Y.P., & Wong, D.T. (2008). Self-reported visual impairment in elderly Canadians and its impact on health living. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 43(4), 407-413.
- Lighthouse International. (2010). Rehabilitation services. Retrieved from http://www.lighthouse.org/services-and-assistance/low-vision-clinicalservices/rehabilitation-services/; accessed 02 March 2010.
- Luborsky, M.R., & Rubinstein, R.L. (1995). Sampling in qualitative research: Rationale, issues, and methods. *Research on Aging*, 17 (1), 89-113.

- Mutti, A.J., Pendova, K., Daly, A., Blovn, M., & Chen, C.S. (2019). Access to lowvision rehabilitation services: burriers and enablers. *E-Journal of Clinical and Experimental Optimicry*, 10.1111, 1-6. Retrieved from http://imlinibitary.wiley.com.org/2a-proxy mun.acids/10.1111/j.1444. 0928.2010.0253. Aufl. accessed OT February 2011.
- Mackelprang, R.W., & Salsgiver, R.O. (1996). People with disabilities and social work: historical and contemporary issues. *Social Work*, 41(1), 7-14. Retrieved from EBSCO*host.*
- Muzychka, M. (2009). Environmental scan of vision health and vision loss in the provinces and territories of Canada, Report for the National Coalition for Vision Health.
- Mwilambwe, M., Wittich W., & Freeman, E.E. (2009). Disparities in awareness and use of low-vision rehabilitation. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 44 (6), 686-691.
- National Eye Institute. (2010). National plan for eye and vision research. Retrieved from http://www.nei.nih.gov/strategicplanning/np_cychealth.asp; accessed 17 February 2010.
- Newcomb, R.D. (2006). What do 20/60 vision and 20/10 vision mean? Retrieved from http://www.netwellness.org/question.cfm/35956.htm; accessed 08 April 2011.

- Overbury, O., Wittich, W., Ferraresi, P., & Southall, K. (2008). Barriers to rehabilitation: A new starting point. Abstract book of Vision 2008 the 9th international conference on low vision. Montreal: Canada.
- Piantanida, M, & Garman, N.B. (1999). The qualitative dissertation: A guideline for students and faculty. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press Inc.
- Pollard, T. L., Simpson, J.A., Lamoureux, E.L., & Keeffe, J.E. (2003). Barriers to accessing low vision services. Ophthalmic & Physiological Optics: The Journal of the British College of Ophthalmic Opticians, 23 (4), 321-327.
- Rubin, A. & Babbie, E.R. (2007). Research methods for social work (6th ed.). Scarborough, ON: Nelson Education.
- Saloojee, A. (2001). Social inclusion, citizenship and diversity. Toronto: The Laidlaw Foundation.
- Scheiman, M., Scheiman, M., & Whittaker, S. G. (2007). Low vision rehabilitation: A practical guide for occupational therapists. Thorofate, NJ: SLACK Incorporated.

Shookner, M. (2002). An inclusion lens: Workhook for looking at social and economic exclusion and inclusion, Retrieved from http://www.phacaspe.gc.ca/canada/regions/atlantic-Publications/Inclusion_lens/inclusion-eng.php: accessed 23 May 2010.

Social Workers Act, SNL2010 CHAPTER S-17.2. (2010). Retrieved from http://www.assembly.nl.ca/legislation/sr/statutes/s17-2.htm#2; accessed on 09 May 2011.

Southall, K., Wittich W., Overbury, O., & Ferraresi, P. (2008). Barriers to vision rehabilitation: A qualitative approach. *Abstract book of Vision 2008 the 9th international conference on low vision*. Vision 2008: Montreal.

Stanley, J. (2007). The uncfainess of social exclusion as a theoretical concept to inform social policy in transport. Retrieved from http://www.thedoo.itk.ustyl.edu.au/downloads/threatbo10_stpeers/threatbo10themedy-Stanley.edf, accessed 01 Max 2010.

Statistics Canada, (2006). Participation and activity limitation survey (PALS). Retrieved from http://www.statacan.gc.ca/cgbin/indb/p2SV pl7Function-gcdSurvey&SDDS-325 1&http://www.statacan.gc.ca/cgbin/indb/p2SV pl7Function-gcdSurvey&SDDS-325

Temisjan, K., Wanet-Defalgee, M.C., Gresser, J., Dorowinet, J., Rousseau, J., Dubois, M.F., Vincent, C., Carignan, M., Renaud, J., & Overbury, O. (2008). Waiting for services from a vision rehabilitation center: Ars services related to the needs of elderly client?. Adstract book of Vision 2008 the 9th international conference on low vision: Vision 2008. Meetrack. The Chicago Lighthouse, (2011). Because there is still hope for those with low vision... Retrieved from http://doi.org/sighthouse.org/Because%20there%20th/%20th/%20thop%20thor%20th/%20thor

The Hadley School for the Blind. (2011). About Hadley. Retrieved from

http://www.hadley.edu/1_a_AboutHadley.asp; accessed 04 February 2011.

The Roeher Institute. (2003). Policy approaches to framing social inclusion and social exclusion: An overview. Toronte, ON: The Roeher Institute.

World Health Organization, (2010). Social determinants of health: Social exclusion. Retrieved from http://www.nb.int/social_determinants/themes/socialesclusion/en/index.html; accessed 00 Months/2011.

Appendix A

Letter of Ethical Approval

July 14, 2018

ICEHR No. 2009/18/142-518

Mr. Melinda Durran School of Social Week Menorial University of Newfoundland

Deg Mr. Durran

Thank you for your e-mail correspondence of July 13, 2010 addressing the inner mired by the Interfaciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) concerning your research project "Tosice rehabilitation services in Nordiandland and Labrador identifying the needs, barriers, and pathways'

The XIDIZ has re-examined the proposal with the characteristic and revisions submitted and is satisfied that concerns raised by the Committee have been adequately addressed. In accordance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Jevelong Humans (TCPS).

Also, KEHR has reviewed your proposed amendment and is pleased to give clearance to you to conduct 16 interviews instead of 30, removal of the focus group, and a shortened question guide.

If you intend to make other changes during the course of the project which may give rise to ethical concerns, please forward a description of these changes to Mrs. Roenda Lye at <u>Mrs. Roman ca</u> for the

The TCPS requires that you submit an annual status report on your project to the ICEER, sheeld the research carry on beyond July 2011. Also to comply with the TCPS, please notify on spon completion on your project.

We wish you success with your research.

Langrage F. Felt, Ph.D. Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on Driver in Homan Research

LEin

copy: Supervisor - Dr. Gall Wideman, School of Social Work

Telephone (199) 157 2581 / 157 2981 Pag. (199) 157 460

Appendix B

Protection of Participants

There was no anticipated risk of harm to participants in this research project. However, the qualitative process lends to generate the articulation of personal, sometimes emotionally sensitive material. This may be capecially ture for people who are struggling to cope with vision loss. These concerns were addressed with the following measures:

- The introductory information package contained specific information about the kinds of questions that would be covered in the interview guide to maximize informed consent to participation.
- At the beginning of each individual interview session I reiterated the purpose of the research and outlined who would have access to the information as well as how the information would be stored.
- Participants were informed as to exceptions to confidentiality, as in a case where a participant suggests there is risk of harm to him or herself or to another person.
- In the event of an issue or problem being divulged that required intervention, a list of contact names and numbers would be provided of relevant supports and services in each community.

There were no immediate benefits identified with participants in this project other than the opportunity to express ideas and feelings. The design and implementation of research tools including the information package and consent form accommodated low levels of literacy as well as vision impediments. The following measures further ensured informed and voluntary participation:

- After the initial contact by the key informant (the CNIB representative), the key informants did not know who agreed to participate.
- The information package provided to candidates contained the following information:
 - A brief description of the research study, and the value of the study to the social work and vision loss communities and to the participants.
 - An explanation as to how and/or why they were selected including a statement that their participation is completely voluntary.
 - · A description of the procedures including:
 - · Frequency with which the participants would be contacted.
 - Time commitment.
 - Location of participation.
 - · Information that would be recorded and how it would be recorded.
 - · An explanation of who would have access to the information.
 - · A description of how the data would be made public.
 - · An explanation of participants' rights:

- · They may terminate or withdraw at any time.
- They may ask for clarification or more information throughout the study.
- They may contact the thesis supervisor if they have any questions about the study or process of the research.

The research participants for this project consisted of those that are legally competent and did not involve children or others whose competence to consent to participate may have been in question. All participants in this research project were of the age of legal concern which is 19 years of age in NewfoundInat and Labrador.

As participants were users of vision rehabilitation services, they were recruited using the CNUB's client list. This form of recruitment was necessary as CNUB is the primary provider of vision rehabilitation services in New foundhand and Labrador. A CNUB representative contacted potential participants to inform them of the research and asked them if they would agree to receive additional information about the research.

When consent for further contact was obtained, candidates received a letter and the project information sheet which introduced me as researcher, identified the purpose of the research, and extended an invitation to participate in an individual interview.

Information about the project was reviewed at the outset of each interview session and documented proof of consent was verbally collected and recorded prior to commencement.

Project participants were assured that confidentiality would be preserved to the extent possible and that they would not be named in the research report.

Appendix C

Script for Telephone Contact with Individual Interview

Candidates

Good moming/afternoon, my name is [name] and 1 ann calling on bhalf of Melinda Dauggan, a Graduate student at the School of Stocial Work at Memorial University. A separative free degrees Melinda is conducting a research project that looks at vision redubilization services in New focusfland and Labrador. Vision redubilization services are genvised that ledge a person with vision loss for a better life. Most of these services are provided by CNIB. Melinda's research will look at the services that people with vision loss need, the ways in which the get to and use the services, and the way people find the services. Site would like to talk with people that have used vision rehubilitation services and parents of children that have used vision rehubilitation services.

The reason for my plone cell balop is to ask if can send you an information package about the project and have the researcher contact you with a follow up plone call. By agreengin to review more information about the project you are under no commitment to take part. Only Melinda Daggan, as the researcher, will know who agreed to take part. Deciding not to take part will in no way impact the services provided to you and/or word wildforesh by CMIN.

If permission granted:

Thank you. You will receive an information package in the next few days. Melinda will follow up with a phone call next week to answer any questions and set up an interview time if you want to take part in the research.

Appendix D

Candidate Information List

Please record the name, address, and telephone number for persons who have agreed to be contacted by me for further information about the project. Please also ensure that each candidate understands that by agreeing to receive more information about the project the by are under no obligation to participate. To ensure information voluntary participation it is essential that you also inform each candidate that only I, as researcher, will know who agreed to participate. Please note any special needs of participant, if known and if the person would prefer to be contacted at a particular time of day.

Contact Information			Category of Participation				
Name	Address	Phone	Parent of Child	Working Age	Older Adult	Preferred Time of Contact	Large Print, Braille, or Audio/ Other Special Needs

Appendix E

Letter to Candidates

Date []

Re: Vision Rehabilitation Services in Newfoundland and Labrador: Identifying the Needs, Barriers, and Pathways

Researcher: Melinda Duggan, Graduate Student, School of Social Work, Memorial University, a message can be left at 709-737-8161

Research Supervisor: Dr. Gail Wideman, School of Social Work Memorial University, phone: 709-737-8161

Dear []

As per your phone conversation with Jperson that made initial contact] on [date] I am sending you information about my research project which will study the needs, barriers, and pathwors to accessing and using vision rehabilitation Newfoundland and Labrador, Vision rehabilitation services are services that help a person with vision loss live a better life. In Newfoundland and Labrador most of these services are provided by CNIB. Information gathered from this study will aid in the development of a remeival vision loss interese.

If you choose to participate in this research you will be asked to answer questions about experiences accessing and using wision rehabilitation services and to offer some personal insight into the needs, harriese, and puthways related to vision rehabilitation services; that province. Needs refer to the reasons why people use vision rehabilitation services; that province. Needs refer to the reasons why people use vision rehabilitation services; that province. Needs refer to the reasons why people use vision rehabilitation services; and pathways refers to the ways in which people find and use vision rehabilitation services. I are writing to add, for your participation in this research project. To adhere to ethical standards of research with human subjects, CNIB will not know who agreed to participate.

I will be conducting approximately 16 individual interviews with people living with vision loss in Newfoundland and Labrador. The groups will be categorized in the following way:

Group 1: Parents of children with vision loss (Children aged 18 and under)

Group 2: Working age adults with vision loss (aged 19-65)

Group 3: Older adults with vision loss (aged 66+)

121

The individual interviews will consist of approximately 4 members in each of these categories representing various geographical regions of the province. Geographical regions will be determined based on the current regional health authority boundaries.

You will find a consert form included in thin package. If you choose to participate please read this document very carefully. I will review this document with you at the beginning of the interview to ensure that you have a clear understanding of the research and what is being anked of you. You will be asked to give verbal consent before we begin.

I will be following up with you by phone in the next couple of days to discuss the research and answer any questions you may have and to centifirm that you would like to be a participant in this research. I remind you that you do not have to participate and only I will know if you decide to participate er not.

If you have any further questions related to the research please feel free to contact myself or my thosis supervisor, Dr. Gall Wideman, for more information. Dr. Wideman can be reached at 709-737-8161. You may leave a message asking me to contact you at the same phone number.

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the

way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the Chairperson of the ICEHR at <u>icehr@mun.ca</u> or by telephone at (709) 737-2861.

Thank you in advance for considering this request.

Sincerely,

Melinda Duggan

Appendix F

Project Information Sheet

Title: Vision Rehabilitation Services in Newfoundland and Labrador: Identifying the Needs, Barriers, and Pathways

Researcher: Melinda Duggan, Graduate Student, School of Social Work, Memorial University

Supervisor: Dr. Gail Wideman, School of Social Work Memorial University

Project Information Sheet

- In Newfoundland and Labrador there are over 15,000 people living with vision loss; for people over the age of 75, one in eight people can expect to experience significant vision loss as they get older.
- The term vision rehabilitation refers to supports or services provided by CNIB
 including orientation and mobility training and assistive devices like magnifiers
 that help people with vision loss live and work in their homes and communities.
- However, we know that many people who have vision problems are not using vision rehabilitation supports or services. We want to understand why.

- The research question is: What are the needs, barriers, and pathways to accessing and using vision rehabilitation services in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador?
- Individuals will be asked to talk about this subject in a telephone interview with me. 1 will carry out the interviews over 4 – 6 weeks in the summer of 2010.
- I will be speaking with people who use vision rehabilitation services from each of the four groups listed below:
 - · Group 1: Parents of children with vision loss (Children ages 18 and under)
 - Group 2: Working age adults with vision loss (aged 19 65)
 - Group 3: Older adults with vision loss (aged 65+)

The interviews will take place with four members in each of these groups and from the four health regions of the province.

Additional Information

- · To be sure that information is recorded correctly the interview will be recorded.
- All names and other information that may be used to identify you will be removed. Only I, and my supervisor, will have access to the list of participants, the consent forms, and recordings. The recordings will become the property of the CNIB but will not contain any identifying information. All of as are bound by Memoral University's standards related to ensuing anyomy information.

participants and confidentiality of data. However, exceptions to confidentiality may be made if suggestion is made that anyone is at risk.

- · Your rights as a participant include:
 - · To end the interview at any time.
 - · To have the audio recorder stopped at any time.
 - · To refuse to answer any question.
 - · To ask questions about the study at any time.

I am a graduate student at Memorial University. This research project is part of the requirements for my Masters degree. For more information about the study, you may leave a message for me at 709-737-8161. Dr. Gail Wideman is my thesis advisor and can also be reached at 709-737-8161.

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the Chairperson of the CLR kt <u>inforthirman</u> or by bulephone at (2009) 372-2861.

Appendix G

Consent Form

Title: Vision Rehabilitation Services in Newfoundland and Labrador: Identifying the Needs, Barriers, and Pathways

Researcher: Melinda Duggan, Graduate Student, School of Social Work, Memorial University

Supervisor: Dr. Gail Wideman, School of Social Work Memorial University,

Purpose of study:

You have been asked to take part in a research project entitled "Vision Rehabilitation Services in Newfoundland and Labrador: Identifying the Needs, Barriers, and Pathways,"

The purpose of this research project is to learn about the vision rehabilitation services and supports needed by people living with vision loss in Newfoundland and Labrador.

This form is part of the process of informed consent. Along with the information sheet, it should give you the basic idea of what the research is about and what your participation will involve. If you would like more information about the research you should for five to ak. Please take the time to read this carefully, or to have someone

read it to you. It is important that you understand any information given to you by the researcher. It is entirely up to you to decide whether or not to take part in this research. No one besides myself and my thesis supervisor will know who agreed to take part in the study.

What you will do in this study:

You will be interviewed by telephone and anked to describe your experiences of using vision rhabilitation supports or services and to give your opinions about what was helpful or not helpful to you. You will also be anked about your ideas about what can be dong to make vision relabilitation supports or services more helpful to you.

Length of time:

The telephone interview will take approximately twenty to thirty minutes to complete.

Benefits:

The only benefit to you will be the chance to tell us how you feel about the vision rehabilitation supports and services that you have found helpful, and about the supports and services you need but have not been able to find.

Risks:

128

There will be no risk to you from taking part in this research project.

Confidentiality:

We will do our best to make sure that your personal information will be kept private. However, if you tell us something during the interview that makes us believe that you were at risk of harm to yourself, or of harming someone chee, we would have to report this information to someone who could help.

Questions:

You are welcome to ask questions at any time during your participation in this research. If you would like more information about this study, please contact:

Researcher: Melinda Duggan, Graduate Student, School of Social Work, Memorial University. Message can be left at 709-737-8161 or email melinda.duggan@mun.ca.

or

Supervisor: Dr. Gail Wideman, School of Social Work Memorial University, Phone 709-737-8161 or email ewideman@tmun.ca

Consent:

Your signature on this form means that:

- · You have read the information about the research
- · You have been able to ask questions about this study
- · You are satisfied with the answers to all of your questions
- · You understand what the study is about and what you will be doing
- You understand that you are free to withdraw from the study at any time, without
 having to give a reason, and that doing so will not affect you now or in the future.
- You understand that you are free to request that the audio recording be stopped at any time.

If you sign this form, you do not give up your legal rights, and do not release the researchers from their professional responsibilities.

Please keep a copy of this form for your records.

Your Signature:

Signature of participant

Date

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the

way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the

Chairperson of the ICEHR at icehr@mun.ca or by telephone at 737-2861.

Appendix H

Interview Guide

Research Project:	Vision Rehabilitation Services in Newfoundland and	
	Labrador: Identifying the Needs, Barriers, and Pathways	
Researcher:	Melinda Duggan, Graduate Student, School of Social	
	Work, Memorial University	

The ordering of questions in this guide is not indicative of the order that questions will be asked to participants. They are organized by theme to ensure that questions relate to the objectives of the research.

Interview Guide for Individual Interviews

Needs

- · What made you (your child) decide to use vision rehabilitation services?
- What vision rehabilitation services have you found the most effective? Least effective?
- · What assistive technology have you found the most beneficial? Least beneficial?
- After the assistive technology was provided to you did you receive further training and support? Do you feel it was adequate?

 Are there any needs related to vision rehabilitation or assistive technology that were not met?

Barriers

- Did you (your child) have to wait to receive any of the vision rehabilitation services you requested? If so, how long and what were the reasons for the delay?
- Is there any assistive technology that you (your child) need but can't access? (Probe: Funding/Demo Items/Training)

Public Education

- Did an eye care practitioner discuss vision rehabilitation services with you? If so, was the information helpful?
- Are there ways to increase awareness of assistive technology and new items that become available? (Probe: How do they learn about new assistive technology?)

Appendix I

Participant Profiles

Andrew	Andrew is a working age person in Western Newfoundland that started experiencing vision loss approximately 5 years ago. He is partially sighted and stopped working due to his vision loss.
Brandon	Brandon is a working age person in Central Newfoundland that started experiencing vision loss as a child. He is a small business owner that is blind.
Corey	Corey is a working age person in Labrador that started experiencing vision loss as a child. Has been a client of CNIB for over 10 years. He is not currently employed and is partially sighted.
Danny	Danny is a working age person in Central Newfoundland. He first experienced vision loss as a child. He is not currently employed and is partially sighted.
Eugene	Eugene is an older adult in Central Newfoundland. He recently began experiencing vision loss and is partially sighted.
Frank	Frank is a working age person in Labrador. He first began experiencing vision loss as a child and has been a client of CNIB for over 10 years. He is not currently employed and is blind.
Amy	Amy is the mother of a young child living in Eastern Newfoundland. Her child began experiencing vision loss before the age of 1. Her child is blind.
Brenda	Brenda is a working age person living in Eastern Newfoundland. She first experienced vision loss as a child and has been a client of CNBI for over 10 years. She is currently employed and is partially sighted.
Carla	Carla is a working age person living is Eastern Newfoundland. She began experiencing vision loss as a child

	and has been a client of CNIB for over 10 years. She is not currently employed and is blind.
Danielle	Danielle is the mother of youth in Central Newfoundland She is also a working age person with vision loss. Her child began experiencing vision loss at the age of 4 and she has also been living with vision loss since she was a child. She is not employed and both she and her child are partially sighted.
Erin	Erin is an older adult is Western Newfoundland. She recently began experiencing vision loss and is partially sighted.
Fiona	Fiona is a working age person in Western Newfoundland She first began experiencing vision loss as a young adult and has been a client of CNB for over 10 years. She is not currently employed and is partially sighted.
Gillian	Gillian is the mother of school aged child in Labrador. Her child started experiencing vision loss before the age of 1 and is blind.
Heather	Heather is the guardian of a youth in Western Newfoundland. Her child started experiencing vision loss in elementary school and is partially sighted.
Iris	Iris is a working age person in Eastern Newfoundland. She started experiencing vision loss as a child and has been a client of CNIB for over 10 years. She is not currently employed and is blind.
Joy	Joy is an older adult living in Eastern Newfoundland. She has been living with vision loss for most of her life and has been a client of CNIB for over 10 years. She is blind.
Kathy	Kathy is an older adult living in Labrador. She recently began experiencing vision loss and is partially sighted.

Appendix J

Coding Chart

	Needs	Barriers	Pathways	Other
Code #				
Pseudonym				
Age Group				
Region				
Code #				
Pseudonym				
Age Group				
Region				
Code #				
Pseudonym				
Age Group				
Region				







